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Report to: Standards Panel  
 

Date: 10 March 2021 
 

Title: Hearing in relation to allegations that Cllr Gauntlett failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct for Members 
 

Report of: Monitoring Officer 
 

Purpose of report: 
 

To outline the allegations against Cllr Gauntlett; and to set 
out the procedure for the Standards Panel hearing 
  

Officer 
recommendation(s): 

 
(1) To consider the investigation report set out in 

 Appendix 1. 
 

(2) To hear the investigator’s findings and the 
submissions of the complainant and Cllr Gauntlett. 

 
(3) To determine whether Cllr Gauntlett did in any 

respect fail to comply with the Code of Conduct for 
Members; and, if he did so fail, whether to impose a 
sanction in respect of that failure. 

 
Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

To comply with the Council’s Hearings Procedure for code 
of conduct matters 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Oliver Dixon 
Post title: Monitoring Officer 
E-mail: oliver.dixon@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  
Telephone number: (01323) 415881 
 

 

1  Introduction 
 

1.1  In accordance with s.28 of the Localism Act 2011, the Council has arrangements 
under which allegations that a Member has failed to comply with the authority’s 
Code of Conduct can be investigated and decided. 
 

1.2 
 
 
 
 
1.3 
 

These arrangements include provision for allegations to be assessed and, where 
necessary, formally investigated.  The Council’s Independent Person, a statutory 
appointment under the Localism Act, advises the Council at the required steps 
during this process. 
 
The role of the Standards Panel, as a sub-committee of the Council’s Audit and 
Standards Committee, is, on a referral from the Monitoring Officer, to hear and 
determine allegations that a member has failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct. 
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 4

mailto:oliver.dixon@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


2  Information 
 

2.1  In June 2020, Karen Rigby-Faux, a member of the public, submitted a written 
complaint to the Monitoring Officer (MO) that Cllr Stephen Gauntlett had failed to 
comply with Lewes District Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

2.2  The MO followed the Council’s Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints about 
Councillor Conduct.  In consultation with the Independent Person, the MO 
considered that the complaint would, if proven, engage the Code of Conduct and 
that the serious and complex nature of the allegations merited formal 
investigation.  In July 2020, the MO commissioned ch&i associates to conduct 
the investigation on her behalf.  The investigator’s report, based on extensive 
interviews and evidence gathering, is set out at Appendix 1.  For data protection 
reasons, certain personal data has been redacted from this version. 

3  Summary of Allegations  
 

3.1  Ms Rigby-Faux alleged that between February and June 2020, Councillor 
Gauntlett orchestrated a malicious campaign against her which improperly 
maligned her character and caused her considerable anxiety. Ms Rigby-Faux 
also alleged that Councillor Gauntlett, while working with her on the committee 
of the Greenhavens Network, consistently failed to declare or indeed manage 
his various conflict of interests at various meetings; these included his being 
Chair of the Council, a Council observer on the board of 3VA and a Director of 
Seaford Community Partnership. Ms Rigby-Faux also complained that Councillor 
Gauntlett used his position on the Council and as Chair of the Greenhavens 
Network to improperly advantage himself and disadvantage both her and the 
Greenhavens Network.  
 

4 
 
4.1 
 

Investigator’s Recommendation 
 
In light of their investigation, ch&i associates recommend that Councillor 
Gauntlett be found to have failed to comply with paragraph 6(a) of the Council’s 
Code of Conduct because, in emails he sent on 3 April, 1 May, and 30 May 
2020, he sought to improperly use his position as Chair of the Council to 
influence an internal dispute within the Greenhavens Network in a manner that 
advantaged him and disadvantaged Ms Rigby-Faux.  The investigator does not, 
though, recommend that any other aspects of Ms Rigby-Faux’s complaint be 
upheld.  
 

4.2 
 
5 
 
5.1 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 

The Council’s Code of Conduct is set out at Appendix 2. 
 
Supplementary Evidence 
 
The Hearings Procedure permits the Subject Member (Cllr Gauntlett in this 
instance) to provide the MO with any evidence they wish to rely on at the 
hearing. 
 
Cllr Gauntlett requested that the Panel be provided with a copy of the three 
emails (dated 3 April, 1 May and 30 May 2020) to which ch&i associates refer in 
paragraph 6.1 of their report, where they recommend that he be found to have 
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5.3 

failed to comply with paragraph 6(a) of the Code of Conduct.  Cllr Gauntlett 
considered it important for the Panel to know what question or event he was 
responding to in each case.   
 
I consider that it would assist the Panel to see these emails and the associated 
threads.  A copy of them is provided at Appendix 3, 4 and 5 respectively. 
 

6 Hearing – Order of Proceedings 
 

6.1 The order of proceedings for the Panel’s hearing is set out at Appendix 6. 
 

7 
 
7.1 

Scope of Panel’s Determination 
 
The scope of the Panel’s determination is limited to the conduct of Cllr Gauntlett 
when acting in his capacity as a member of the Council (whether as Chair of the 
Council or as a Council member in any other capacity).  It is in these 
circumstances that Cllr Gauntlett is bound by the Council’s Code of Conduct.  It 
is not the Panel’s remit to consider his conduct in a personal capacity, for 
example when acting solely as a committee member of the Greenhavens 
Network, an organisation with which the Council has no formal links. 
 

7.2 The Panel must seek and take into account the views of the Independent Person 
before it makes its decision on the allegations concerning Cllr Gauntlett. 

  
8 Potential Sanctions 

 

8.1 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
 
8.3 

If the Panel determines that Cllr Gauntlett failed to comply with any aspect of the 
Code of Conduct, it may have regard to the failure in deciding–  
 

(a) whether to impose a sanction in relation to that failure; and  
(b) what sanction to impose. 

 
The factors the Panel should take into account before deciding on any sanction, 
and the actual sanctions they are permitted to impose, are set out in the 
Hearings Procedure at Appendix 7.   
 
The Panel must seek and take into account the views of the Independent Person 
before it makes any decision on whether to impose a sanction and what any 
sanction should consist of.  

  
9 Financial appraisal 

 
9.1 The Panel’s determination of the allegations against Cllr Gauntlett and the 

imposition of any sanctions is unlikely to involve any significant expenditure by 
the Council.  Ch&i’s fees (£8,300 + VAT) for carrying out the investigation, the 
Independent Person’s fees in connection with the hearing, and officers’ staff 
costs are met from the Council’s corporate budget. 
 

10 Legal implications 
 

10.1 The legislative framework for local authorities’ codes of conduct for members 
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and arrangements for dealing with alleged failures to comply is provided by Part 
1, Chapter 7, of the Localism Act 2011.  Both this report and the investigation 
report refer to the relevant parts of the Act. 
 

 
11 

 
Appendices 
 

  Appendix 1 – Investigation report 

 Appendix 2 – Code of Conduct for Members  

 Appendix 3 – Cllr Gauntlett’s email of 3 April 2020 

 Appendix 4 – Cllr Gauntlett’s emails of 1 May 2020 

 Appendix 5 – Cllr Gauntlett’s email of 30 May 2020 

 Appendix 6 – Order of Proceedings 

 Appendix 7 – Hearings Procedure 
 
 

12 Background papers 
 

 The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows:  
 

  Localism Act 2011, section 28: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/28  

 Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints about Councillor Conduct: 
https://www.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/261279.pdf  

 Investigations procedure: https://www.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/261281.pdf  
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1:  Executive Summary 
 

1.1 On 15 June 2020, Ms Karen Rigby-Faux submitted a complaint to the Monitoring 
Officer at Lewes District Council (’the Council’) alleging that Councillor Stephen 
Gauntlett had failed to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for members 
(‘the Code’). 
 

1.2 Ms Rigby-Faux alleged that between February and June 2020, Councillor 
Gauntlett orchestrated a malicious campaign against her which improperly 
maligned her character and caused her considerable anxiety. Ms Rigby-Faux 
also alleged that Councillor Gauntlett, while working with her on the Committee 
of the Greenhavens Network, consistently failed to declare or indeed manage his 
various conflict of interests at various meetings; these included his being Chair 
of the Council, a Council observer on the board of 3VA and a Director of Seaford 
Community Partnership. Ms Rigby-Faux also complained that Councillor 
Gauntlett used his position on the Council and as Chair of the Greenhavens 
Network to improperly advantage himself and disadvantage both her and the 
Greenhavens Network.  

 
1.3 We recommend that Councillor Gauntlett be found to have failed to comply with 

paragraph 6(a) of the Council’s Code because, in emails he sent on 3 April, 1 
May, and 30 May 2020, he sought to improperly use his position as Chair of the 
Council to influence an internal dispute within the Greenhavens Network in a 
manner that advantaged him and disadvantaged Ms Rigby-Faux.  We do not, 
though, recommend that any other aspects of Ms Rigby-Faux’s complaint be 
upheld.  
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2:  Councillor Gauntlett’s official details  
 
2.1 Councillor Gauntlett has been a member of the Council since May 2011. He is a 

member of the Liberal Democrat group and currently serves the Seaford Central 
Ward. Councillor Gauntlett was the Chair of the Council from 2017 until 
September 2020.  

 
2.2 Councillor Gauntlett currently sits on the following Council committees: 

 
● Audit and Standards Committee (Vice-Chair) 
● Employment Committee 
● Licensing Committee 
● Licensing Sub-Committee 
● Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 
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3:  Relevant legislation and protocols 

 
The Localism Act 2011 
 

3.1 Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) provides that a relevant Authority 
must promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted 
members of the Authority. In discharging this duty, the Authority must adopt a 
code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members when they are acting 
in that capacity. For the purposes of this investigation, the relevant Authority is 
Lewes District Council. 
 

3.2 Section 28 of the Act provides that the Authority must secure that its Code of 
Conduct is, when viewed as a whole, consistent with the following principles: - 
Selflessness; Integrity; Objectivity; Accountability; Openness; Honesty; 
Leadership. 
 

3.3 Under 28(6) of the Act, Local Authorities must have in place (a) arrangements 
under which allegations can be investigated and (b) arrangements under which 
decisions on allegations can be made. By section 27(7), arrangements put in 
place under subsection (6)(b) must include provision by the appointment of the 
Authority of at least one “independent person” whose views are to be sought, 
and taken into account, by the Authority before it makes its decision on an 
allegation that it has decided to investigate. For the purposes of this investigation, 
the relevant Authority is Lewes District Council. 

 
3.4 Section 28(11) of the Act provides that if a relevant Authority finds that a member 

or a co-opted member of the Authority has failed to comply with its Code of 
Conduct it may have regard to the failure in deciding (a) whether to take action 
in relation to the member or co-opted member and (b) what action to take.  

 
Lewes District Council’s Code of Conduct 

 
3.5 Under Section 27(2) of the Localism Act, the Council established a Code of 

Conduct for members (the Code). 
 

3.6 The Code adopted by the Council includes the following paragraphs: 
 

3. General Obligations 
 
(1) You must treat others with respect 
 
(2) You must not- 
 

(b) bully or harass any person 
 

(Bullying means offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting 
behaviour, or an abuse or misuse of power through means that 
undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. 
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Harassment means unwanted conduct which has the purpose or effect 
of violating an individual’s dignity or creating an intimidating, hostile, 
degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for an individual.) 

 
6  You – 

 
(a)  must not use or attempt to use your position as a member 

improperly to confer on or secure for yourself or any other 
person, an advantage or disadvantage 

 

European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) 

3.7 Section 3 of the Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) requires that primary and 
subordinate legislation must, as far as possible, be read and given effect in a way 
which is compatible with the Convention rights. By virtue of section 6, it is 
unlawful for a public authority to act in a way that is incompatible with Human 
Rights. 
 

3.8 Article 10 of the ECHR provides:  
 

Freedom of expression  
 
(1) Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall include 
freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information and ideas 
without interference by public authority and regardless of frontiers. This 
article shall not prevent states from requiring the licensing of broadcasting, 
television or cinema enterprises.  
 
(2) The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and 
responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, restrictions 
or penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic 
society, in the interest of national security, territorial integrity or public safety, 
for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, 
for the protection of the reputation or rights of others, for preventing the 
disclosure of information received in confidence, or for maintaining the 
authority and impartiality of the judiciary 

 
3.9 In considering these matters it is important to note the words of Collins J in the 

standards case of Livingstone v The Adjudication Panel for England [2006] 
EWHC 2533 (Admin) [at para.39]:  
 

“The burden is on [the Adjudication Panel for England] to justify interference 
with freedom of speech. However offensive and undeserving of protection 
the appellant’s outburst may have appeared to some, it is important that any 
individual knows that he can say what he likes, provided it is not unlawful, 
unless there are clear and satisfactory reasons within the terms of Article 
10(2) to render him liable to sanctions.” 
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We have provided relevant Case Law on Article 10 in Annex A 
 
4:  Summary of the Evidence Gathered 

 
 Our appointment 

 
4.1 The Council’s Monitoring Officer appointed ch&i associates to conduct the 

investigation into the complaints on 17 July 2020. This investigation was 
conducted by Alex Oram and Mark Hedges. Alex has been conducting member 
conduct investigations since 2003. He was previously employed by Standards 
for England as its principal investigator who was responsible for conducting many 
of their most complex, politically sensitive and high-profile investigations into 
member conduct. Mark has worked for ch&i associates since 2017; prior to this 
he was a Detective in the Police Service for 21 years. He has considerable 
experience in investigation, interviewing, report writing and dealing with 
confidential/sensitive information. 

 
The investigation 

 
4.2 During this investigation we have carried out interviews with Ms Karen Rigby-

Faux, Councillor Stephen Gauntlett, Councillor Julie Carr, Councillor Steve 
Saunders, Councillor Matthew Bird and Mr Andrew Frost. We have considered 
documentary evidence supplied to us by the Council, Ms Rigby-Faux and 
Councillor Gauntlett; the main bulk of this documentary evidence was email 
communications. Following investigation, a draft report was issued to Councillor 
Gauntlett and Ms Rigby-Faux for their response. We received substantive 
comments from both and have reflected them in this report. 

 
The complaint 
 

4.3 On 15 June 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux submitted a complaint to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer about the conduct of Councillor Gauntlett. The focus of Ms 
Rigby-Faux’s concerns centred on Councillor Gauntlett’s role as Chair of the 
Greenhaven’s Network. Ms Rigby-Faux stated in her complaint: 
 

“This is a formal complaint against Councillor Stephen Gauntlett, whose 
conduct has failed to comply with the councillor codes of conduct standards 
and the seven principles of public life. The code of conduct applies to 
Stephen Gauntlett when acting as both in his capacity as a Councillor and 
as Chair of Lewes District Council. There are numerous occasions where 
Cllr Stephen Gauntlett has stated he is acting as both Chair of Lewes District 
Council and as Chair of Greenhavens Network, thus bringing LDC business 
and affairs into the business of Greenhavens Network and vice versa. 
 
Cllr Stephen Gauntlett has targeted Karen Rigby-Faux over a sustained 
period of 4 months, deliberately slurring her character to numerous 
stakeholders in the community, systemically ruining her reputation with his 
malicious campaign against her. This has resulted in causing Karen Rigby-
Faux considerable stress and anxiety, making her quite ill.  Furthermore, 
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this misrepresentation of character has affected her working environment 
significantly, damaging relationships and Stephens’s actions have resulted 
in Karen feeling isolated and excluded from her environment and the 
communities she normally works in.  The continued bullying has resulted in 
Karen’s job security being threatened, a deliberate targeted intention of 
Stephens all of which was to further his own political career. 
 
This document highlighted why Stephen Gauntlett has failed to comply with 
the 7 pillars of public office, broken GDPR regulations as well as the LDC 
councillor code of conduct. He has not only systematically targeted and 
bullied Karen Rigby-Faux, he has also caused significant damage to people 
in the community and their relationships with each other.  Destroying a 
community group and their relationships in order to meet his own ends is 
not in the best interest of the constituents he represents.  Stephen 
deliberately set out to remove Karen Rigby-Faux from the lottery partnership 
and the Greenhavens Network in order to further his own political career, 
this was done in a targeted malicious systematic approach spreading 
numerous rumours to destroy Karen Rigby-Faux reputation.” 

 
4.4 Ms Rigby-Faux’s allegations against Councillor Gauntlett can be summarised as 

follows: 
 

a. That over the four months from February up to the 15 June (when she 
made her complaint), Councillor Gauntlett orchestrated a malicious 
campaign that improperly maligned her character and caused her 
considerable anxiety. Councillor Gauntlett’s bullying behaviour 
resulted in Ms Rigby-Faux’s job being threatened and damaged the 
work of the Greenhavens Network; and 

 
b. That Councillor Gauntlett consistently failed to declare or indeed 

manage his various conflicts of interests at meetings of the 
Greenhavens Network. These included being Chair of the Council, a 
Council observer on the board of 3VA and a Director of Seaford 
Community Partnership.  

 
4.5 During the investigation, we explained to Ms Rigby-Faux that the requirement for 

councillors to declare any personal / pecuniary interests only applies to meetings 
of the Council or its Committees; she maintained though that Councillor Gauntlett 
failed to declare the relevant interests when meeting with councillors on Council 
premises about the Greenhavens Network. She also asserted that he failed to 
manage his inherent conflict of interest and instead used his position improperly 
to advantage himself politically while disadvantaging both her and the 
Greenhavens Network.  
 
Background 

 
4.6 In May 2017, when Councillor Gauntlett became Chair of the Council, he 

announced that the theme of his chairmanship would be to encourage and affirm 
wildlife conservation, especially amongst young people.  

 

Page 14



 

9 
 

4.7 From July 2017, Councillor Gauntlett worked with an employee of SCDA1 on 
setting up a series of meetings loosely based on the idea of creating a network 
of local community groups who were volunteering to protect and develop green 
spaces in the area. Councillor Gauntlett told us at interview about how he 
became actively involved in the project; “The theme of my chairmanship caused 
some eyebrow raising among the Council. I wanted to encourage and affirm 
wildlife conservation especially with young people. It took a while to find some 
way of expressing it. I got a few things kicked off, but not very much. During the 
first three months of my term, I worked closely with Theonie Outram, who is the 
Head Ranger for Parks and Open Spaces... In early July 2017 she held an event 
called ‘Marine and Clean’ in Newhaven. I went to the event, which was being 
jointly funded by the Council and SCDA. I got talking to SCDA’s project officer. 
Jessie Rodrigues and we began to realise that what she was up to, something 
she was loosely calling Greenhavens, was actually a direct way of expressing 
support for my theme. So we both said there would be mutual benefit in 
developing the Greenhavens, whose aim according to Jessie was to make 
friends of each of the green spaces in our area and create a club to provide 
mutual support to each other. The idea was to have a quarterly meeting with a 
speaker to encourage people. This was largely it. In the first year we did have 
some very good meetings. It was fairly informal, but we had talked about having 
a written constitution and so we involved a group called 3VA, who are a voluntary 
support agency. They started to draft a constitution; a bit like an angling club - 
no more sophisticated that. This was the start of Greenhavens”. 

 
4.8 During the period relevant to this complaint, Ms Rigby-Faux was employed by 

‘Idverde2’, an international company who provide grounds maintenance services 
and landscape creation projects. As part of an ongoing contract that Idverde had 
with the Council, Ms Rigby-Faux carried out work on behalf of the Council as a 
Community Liaison Officer (‘CLO’). Her role primarily involved working with 
community groups in green spaces in the area. She was line managed by Mr 
Mark Taverner, an employee of Idverde. Idverde’s contract with the Council was 
overseen by Mr Andy Frost, the Council’s Parks and Cemeteries manager. 
 

4.9 In January 2018, Idverde and the Council agreed that 10% of Ms Rigby-Faux’s 
time as the Council’s CLO could be spent on setting up what became the 
Greenhavens Network.3 Ms Rigby-Faux proceeded to community asset map and 
create/set up a network of groups with support from community group members, 
this included community asset mapping to find out who was operating in the area 
and whether they would like to be part of a network. 
 

4.10 In June 2018, the Greenhavens Committee was formed. Councillor Gauntlett 
was appointed Chair and Ms Rigby-Faux was appointed as a member of the 
Committee. The rest of the Committee was made of Mr Gibbons (Secretary), Ms 

 
1 Sussex Community Development Association: a charitable organisation who support and run a 
range of community-based projects and services across East Sussex. 
2 Idverde are the parent company of Burleys. 
3 In her evidence Ms Rigby-Faux’s initially said that Idverde had told her that she could spend 1-2 
days a week on the project. In her comments on the draft report, she told us that they had agreed 2-3 
days of her working week. While both differs from what we have seen in writing, it is common ground 
that Ms Rigby-Faux did commit at least 2-3 days a week to the project. 
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Gallagher (Treasurer) and Ms Paul. The Council did not provide any funding to 
Greenhavens or have any formal connection to it; this has been stressed 
throughout by Ms Rigby-Faux, who told us: “Greenhavens Network conducts NO 
COUNCIL BUSINESS”. Councillor Gauntlett did though donate part of his 
‘Chairman of the Council’ discretionary fund which, alongside other funding, 
allowed a website to be created and maintained.   

 
4.11 As the Greenhavens Network became established, Mr Frost informed Idverde 

that the Council was no longer prepared to allow Ms Rigby-Faux to dedicate any 
more of her time as CLO to supporting Greenhavens. On 30 January 2019, the 
Council’s Director of Service Delivery emailed Councillor Gauntlett to let him 
know that while Ms Rigby-Faux could still attend Greenhavens meeting, she 
would no longer be offering any other support as part of her professional role4. 
However Ms Rigby-Faux remained on the Committee and continued to support 
the Greenhavens Network. 
 

4.12 In May 2019, Ms Gallagher and Ms Paul were both elected to Peacehaven Town 
Council; they both left the Greenhavens Committee around this time. By this time 
Mr Gibbons had sadly passed away, leaving Ms Rigby-Faux to take on the role 
of Committee Secretary. Ms Gallagher and Ms Paul publicly stated that they left 
the Committee due to being elected to Peacehaven Town Council. 

 
4.13 During the summer of 2019, the Greenhavens Committee decided to secure 

some funding to employ a part-time coordinator. After agreeing to submit a joint 
bid to the National Lottery along with South Downs National Park Authority 
(SDNPA), Ms Rigby-Faux and Councillor Gauntlett met with Councillors Carr and 
Bird to obtain the support of the Council. Ms Rigby-Faux wanted permission to 
work on the Lottery bid as part of her role as CLO. The Councillors suggested 
that they meet with the two organisations who had been turned down - OVESCO 
and Transition Town Lewes - and they subsequently joined the Lottery bid. 

 
4.14 In her complaint one of the allegations made by Ms Rigby-Faux is that that 

despite this being a Council meeting, Councillor Gauntlett did not declare a 
conflict of interest as both Chair of the Council and Chair of Greenhavens.  

 
4.15 Councillor Carr, the Council’s Cabinet member for Waste Recycling and Open 

Spaces, told us that she first became aware of what Greenhavens were seeking 
to achieve in August 2019, when she met Ms Rigby-Faux at a conference on 
parks and open spaces. Councillor Carr said that she was impressed with Ms 
Rigby-Faux’s passion and knowledge. Councillor Carr said that she knew that 
Councillor Gauntlett was also involved with the project; she had not spoken with 
him about it though prior to their meeting about the Lottery Bid. Councillor Carr 
said that she and Councillor Bird (Cabinet Member for Sustainability and 
Biodiversity) were keen to get funding for various projects that particularly 
focused on sustainability.  

 
 

4 Ms Rigby-Faux told us in her comments on the draft report neither her employer or Councillor 
Gauntlett told her that this was the case. She did though tell us that Mr Frost “wanted me to try and 
get the group to be self-sufficient so that in my working capacity I was not spending as much time on 
it, whilst accepting that I could do what I wanted in a personal, voluntary capacity. 
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4.16 In October 2019 Hannah Shearman joined the Committee as treasurer; Ms 
Shearman was an employee of SCDA, however she joined the Greenhavens 
Committee in a voluntary capacity. Ms Hornsbury and Ms Pepper also joined the 
Committee around this time. 

 
4.17 In November 2019, at Councillor Carr’s request, Mr Frost told Idverde that Ms 

Rigby-Faux could dedicate up to four days of her contracted hours as CLO to 
work on the Lottery bid between then and February 2020. 

 
4.18 Councillor Gauntlett confirmed that the change in the Council’s administration 

had led to some important changes: ‘When the [Council’s] administration 
changed to the Alliance [July 2019], of which I am now a part, they produced a 
corporate plan which incorporated for the first time a separate thread on 
sustainability, the environment and green spaces. This thread was tailor made 
for Greenhavens as it was talking about the possibility of using a network group 
to steer the budget, rather than officers making decisions… I was pleased and 
felt that it offered Greenhavens the prospect of long-term stability.” 

 
4.19 Ms Rigby-Faux told us that Councillor Gauntlett’s involvement with Greenhavens 

suddenly changed at this point. Whereas prior to this he had taken a very ‘hands-
off’ approach to providing Greenhavens with any leadership, leaving all the 
organisation to Ms Rigby-Faux, he now started attending meetings with the 
Council, SDNP and the other lottery partners, Ms Rigby-Fax stated in her 
complaint: “He could see that this lottery project had a lot of potential for the 
Greenhavens Network.  I had no realisation at this juncture that actually it was 
about him furthering his own political career, to the detriment of the communities 
he represents and to the volunteers he works with.” 

 
4.20 It appears common ground that the joint lottery bid, which successfully got 

through the first round of the process in January 2020, triggered a deterioration 
in the relationship between Councillor Gauntlett and Ms Rigby-Faux.  Both told 
us that prior to this point, their working relationship had been good and their 
vision for Greenhavens aligned.  

 
Stage two of the Lottery bid 

 
4.21 Having successfully navigated the first round of the Lottery bid process (in 

January 2020), Emma Allen (SDNPA’s Statutory Funding Officer) and Ms Rigby-
Faux worked to ensure that the next part of the submission would be completed 
by 6 April 2020. In her comments on the draft report Ms Rigby-Faux clarified that 
she was given responsibility for heading up the Council part of the Bid and so it 
was her responsibility to understand and include what they wanted from it. 

 
4.22 On 7 February 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux emailed Councillors Carr and Bird to ask 

them to clarify what the Council hoped to achieve from the Lottery bid. She made 
it clear that she did not have much time to get the bid prepared and asked for a 
response as soon as possible. When neither party made contact, Ms Rigby-Faux 
chased them for a response on 11 February 2020.  
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4.23 Ms Rigby-Faux told us that during this period the Greenhavens Network and its 
member organisations became concerned that the Council’s vision for the Lottery 
bid no longer reflected what they had set out to achieve. Councillor Gauntlett 
emailed Councillors Carr and Bird (in his capacity as Greenhaven’s Chair) to 
indicate their concern that Greenhavens’ requirements, which he saw as central 
to the bid, were getting ‘watered down’ by the involvement of so many other 
organisations.   
 

4.24 On 12 February 2020, Councillor Gauntlett texted Ms Rigby-Faux to let her know 
that Councillor MacCleary (the Leader of the Council) had told him that Mr Frost 
had spoken to him about the lottery bid and indicated that it felt like Greenhavens 
had ‘parked its tanks on his lawn’ and that Councillor Gauntlett had reported 
finding .  

 
4.25 Ms Rigby-Faux replied to Councillor Gauntlett later that day to express the 

concern that there was problem with relations between Greenhavens and the 
Council. As part of this she referenced the lack of response from Councillors Carr 
and Bird to her emails, stating: “If we rewind for a moment in time, Greenhavens 
were confidently working towards a reaching communities’ application, having 
had the endorsement of our local lottery officer, Angie.  We had no reason to go 
into this particular climate stream of funding other than we recognised working 
with SDNP gave endorsement and credibility to my work that I have developed 
and that we can achieve much more for our communities and biodiversity much 
more quickly by this climate fund being a catalyst for our groups. Furthermore, 
there was an existing strong relationship between the two original partners i.e. 
SDNP and Greenhavens. We as partners approached LDC amongst others to 
see if they would want to be part of the bid and to endorse some of my working 
week to support the bid. If LDC do not wish to communicate with me then I feel 
that we have a partnership/relationship breakdown and if unresolved I will need 
to communicate to that effect to the Greenhavens Network because at the 
moment I have gone out of my way, above and beyond to ensure members feel 
that LDC do endorse Greenhavens (which effectively is my work) as well as my 
own company [Idverde]. It now puts me an untenable position both going forward 
with my job, how do I say to them I’m spending all this time that they have 
endorsed for their client but the client won’t communicate to me!!! and I question 
how the lottery bid develops as a result. I’m afraid, it is unacceptable to treat me 
in this manner and for reasons unfathomable to me, I think we need to talk about 
this.”  
 

4.26 Councillor Gauntlett tried to reassure Ms Rigby-Faux that the political 
administration of the Council still supported Greenhavens being central to the 
Lottery bid. Emma Allen was also initially supportive toward Ms Rigby-Faux and 
suggested that things could be slowed down by their entering a development 
Lottery bid instead. Ms Rigby-Faux suggested that Greenhavens pull out of the 
bid altogether and instead obtain funding through a different route. She said that 
what had been a wonderful project was becoming toxic. She added that 3VA5  

 
5 3VA are a Voluntary Action organisation for the three districts of Wealden, Eastbourne and Lewes in 
East Sussex, they support and develop local voluntary groups and organisations in the three districts. 
They are partly funded by all three authorities and Councillor Gauntlett had been appointed by the 
Council as their representative on 3VA’s Board of Directors.  
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(who had also become partners on the bid) appeared to have aims utterly at odds 
with the aims of Greenhavens.6 
 
On 15 February 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux emailed Councillors Bird and Carr again 
seeking a response to her earlier emails. Councillor Bird responded the following 
day that he had been very busy and had been under the impression that Emma 
Allen from SDNPA was coordinating the bid. Ms Rigby-Faux told Councillor Bird 
that she was baffled by his response (because the Council had explicitly agreed 
that she could use some of her time as CLO to work on the bid. She also 
reminded him that the bid had been conceived by SDNPA and Greenhavens and 
they should therefore be seen as equal partners. She told Councillor Bird that 
she didn’t understand why he would not engage with her so that she could carry 
out the role being asked of her within the bid. 
 

4.27 It is evident that by mid-February, Ms Rigby-Faux’s attitude was causing some 
concern to a few people (both officers and members) within the Council7. 
Councillor Gauntlett was initially supportive of Ms Rigby-Faux and he too had 
started questioning whether it was in Greenhavens best interests to remain part 
of the Lottery bid.   

 
4.28 On 19 February 2020, Councillor Gauntlett texted Ms Rigby-Faux to let her know 

that Councillor Carr had phoned him to plead with him to keep Greenhavens 
involved in the lottery bid. He texted “...the credibility of the bid falls apart without 
you/us. I think by ‘threatening’ to walk away (which Julie [Councillor Carr] said 
was very disappointing) we may have strengthened our position”. Ms Rigby-Faux 
responded “I can’t stress strongly enough, I need LDC to work directly with me, 
I need to be at the table, my company wouldn’t understand it any other way.”   

 
4.29 On 20 February 2020, the Council’s Strategy & Partnership Lead (Quality 

Environment) informed Mr Frost that she had met with Councillor Carr, Councillor 
Bird and Ms Allen about the Lottery bid.  She told him that they had reported that 
Ms Rigby-Faux’s conduct was hampering the progress of the bid; that she was 
difficult to work with and that her communications with councillors and partners 
were being perceived as aggressive. She asked Mr Frost to raise the matter with 
Idverde.  

 
4.30 On 23 February 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux sent an email to all the community groups 

in the Greenhavens Network reminding them that there was a meeting to be held 
on 4 March 2020; asking for any further projects that they wanted included in the 
Lottery bid; and highlighting that a meeting had been scheduled for 4 April 2020 
to decide the future of Greenhavens.  

 
4.31 Ms Rigby-Faux also emailed the members of the Greenhaven Committee 

highlighting her concerns about the way the Lottery bid was progressing. She 
asked Committee members to consider whether Greenhavens should withdraw 

 
6 Ms Rigby-Faux stated in her comments on the draft that she feels the presentation of this to be 
misleading – she wanted it noted that she was speaking on behalf of the entire Greenhavens 
Committee and key stakeholder groups, with whom she has consulted extensively.  
7 It should be noted that it is not part of our role to comment on Ms Rigby-Faux’s conduct or whether 
these concerns were justified; we simply refer to the fact that they existed.  
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from the bid and find their own funding to support the employment of a 
coordinator. Ms Rigby-Faux mentioned the possibility of the bid changing to a 
development bid, to allow for more time. In her email, she expressed the view 
that the Council had never supported the Greenhavens Network and of 
deliberately having her role redefined so that their support was withdrawn. Ms 
Rigby-Faux asserted that she had been bullied by the Council (and Mr Frost in 
particular) and appeared to advocate Greenhavens distancing themselves from 
both the Council and the Lottery bid. 
 

4.32 Councillor Gauntlett replied to this email by confirming that the Council was 
deciding on its Corporate Plan the following evening and that each member of 
the Cabinet would need to explain what was planned; for sustainability and 
greenspaces, this would mean setting out what they might do if the Lottery bid 
was successful. Councillor Gauntlett acknowledged that he had been unable to 
shift the Cabinet members from their view that the bid was a Council and SDNP 
initiative, as opposed to what it actually was; a Greenhavens and SDNP bid. He 
confirmed though that despite this, the Council intended to use the Greenhavens 
model to provide an example to the rest of the District as to how communities 
can take more ownership of their greenspaces. Councillor Gauntlett confirmed 
that this left him in a rather odd position and suggested that the Greenhavens 
Committee move carefully over the next few days. He thanked Ms Rigby-Faux 
for focusing the Committee’s thinking so clearly. 

 
4.33 On 24 February 2020 Councillor Gauntlet emailed Ms Rigby-Faux to say that he 

had spoken with a representative of 3VA8, who were substantially funded by 
three local authorities including the Council. 3VA were concerned that, after a 
conversation with Ms Rigby-Faux, that they had not been supporting 
Greenhavens sufficiently; Councillor Gauntlett asked what the problem was. Ms 
Rigby-Faux said that she had already told him the problem; when she signposted 
groups to 3VA they often don’t get any response. 
 

4.34 On 25 February 2020 Ms Rigby-Faux emailed the members of the Greenhavens 
Committee to state that she was aware that Councillor Gauntlett supported 
Greenhavens remaining in the Lottery bid (because the Council were now 
framing their sustainability plans around it), that Ms Pepper was undecided, and 
that Ms Shearman wanted to ‘see how it goes’. Ms Rigby-Faux confirmed that 
she was also undecided but that she would be able to make a decision following 
her meeting with Emma Allen the following day. She ended: “We all seem to have 
accepted that Greenhavens model is being used to elevate various peoples egos 
and that we no longer have control over our destiny but if we still don’t get the 
projects then there really is not point continuing especially if it is as a result of it 
heading Lewes way which isn’t what our groups wanted from the outset. There 
is also the issue of my own personal health, I have been used and abused and 
now blackmailed and the pressure of the amount of work I have to do is 
horrendous.  I’m not a machine that LDC can chain to my desk to churn out 
projects for them, especially as they have refused to engage with me, not speak 
to me but dictate from behind the scenes. I am feeling under enormous pressure 

 
8 Councillor Gauntlett is a Council observer at 3VA Board meetings, a position that was included in his 
Register of Interests but which Ms Rigby-Faux says was never disclosed to her or any members of 
the Greenhavens Network. 
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and it’s affecting my health. I should never have to be treated like this and this 
raises questions for me as to my own job security following submission date.” 

 
4.35 On 27 February 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux wrote again to members of the 

Greenhavens Committee to say that she had met with Emma Allen and that there 
had been much discussion over the increased involvement of the Council into 
what was supposed to be a community led project. Ms Rigby-Faux stated that 
this had highlighted Councillor Gauntlett’s unique position as Chair of both the 
Council and of the Greenhavens Network. Ms Rigby-Faux expressed concern 
that Councillor Gauntlett was now too conflicted to remain involved in the 
decision-making process; and that his potential elevation to a Cabinet position 
on the Council in May would only make it more difficult. (Ms Rigby-Faux was 
clear in her evidence that Councillor Gauntlett had told her and others that he 
intended on securing himself a Cabinet position once his terms a Chair to the 
Council had ended). 
 

4.36 Councillor Gauntlett did not respond directly to Ms Rigby-Faux’s email. He did 
though, on 28 February 2020, email Councillor Carr as follows: “I am at a point 
now where if you see fit, I would be prepared for you to ask the contract manager 
to speak / write formally to Idverde to ask why their employee is behaving as if 
Greenhavens were their own personal fiefdom and bad mouthing LDC. She has 
sent me an email about the NL bid (which I think aligns perfectly with this 
administration’s objectives) and using the personal pronoun all the way through 
tells me that I must ‘step aside’ from Chair of Greenhavens because of a conflict 
of interest and ‘you are not in a position anymore to make a decision on our 
behalf’. Not only is this an insult to my integrity but on what authority is she saying 
this? Her employer who pays her salary through an LDC contract? She copied 
the Committee who don’t know what to make of it. There is a terrible paradox 
because of the fantastic work she has and is doing (except on the bid where she 
seems to resent every partner) and now appears to want to bite the hand that 
feeds! It’s come to a head because she left me a phone message last evening 
referring to LDC as a “political cesspit”.9..is that what her employer wants I 
wonder? Obviously, I have no remit or authority to contact Andy Frost (assume 
it’s him), but I will if you felt I should. Otherwise, I just intend to not respond to 
increasingly strange emails and messages! Hope you don’t mind me “unloading”! 
I would be happy for you to forward this email to Andy if necessary.” In a follow 
up email to Councillor Carr, Councillor Gauntlett apologised for sending the 
above email to her personal email account. He also confirmed that his previous 
email had been sent wearing ‘both hats’, in his capacity as Chair of the Council 
and as Chair of the Greenhaven Network. 
 
 
 

 
9 In her comments on the draft report, Ms Rigby-Faux pointed out that that during the same voice 
mail, which she left in a state of high emotion,  she had informed Councillor Gauntlett that she had got 
her line manager’s approval to remove herself from working on the Lottery Bid for the Council. She 
told us that she asked to be removed because she had a ‘breakdown’ as a direct result “of the 
conflict-of-interest LDC (Councillor Julie Carr, Councillor Matthew Bird and Councillor Steven 
Gauntlett) were putting on her”.   
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4.37 Councillor Carr forwarded Councillor Gauntlett’s email to Mr Frost, stating that 
she was concerned that Ms Rigby-Faux’s increasingly erratic behaviour was 
distracting Emma Allen from her work on the Lottery bid. Mr Frost confirmed that 
he had been made aware of concerns about Ms Rigby-Faux’s conduct from other 
parties and that he intended to tell Idverde that the Council no longer wanted her 
involved in the Lottery bid. Mr Frost subsequently forwarded Councillor 
Gauntlett’s email of 28 February to Ms Rigby-Faux’s line manager at Idverde. Mr 
Frost’s accompanying email read: ‘Please see below an email from one of our 
Councillors concerning unacceptable behaviour from Karen. This certainly does 
not help with the strong relationship we are developing between LDC and 
Idverde. I would be grateful if you could look into this as soon as possible please’. 
 

4.38 On 29 February 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux emailed Councillor Gauntlett as follows: “I 
haven’t had your thoughts yet on your position in the Committee on the project? 
We have a network meeting on Wednesday, and it is the appropriate time to 
bring this conflict to the members and protect your integrity and the committee. 
There have been some more developments which you may be aware of, that 3va 
are now asking for resources directly from the funding to support a staff member 
in the havens.  This is at odds with what Greenhavens wanted i.e.to have a 
training budget and broker in services from the various providers as driven by 
the community need. There is then relationship issues to be considered with 
SCDA as funding 3va staff would change the dynamics of the relationships.  I 
have raised this with SDNP who are now seeing SCDA next week to discuss 
further, however it raises yet again the partners within this project not 
understanding the communities we are working with and LDC imposing their 
preferred partners. 3va were brought into the partnership by LDC without any 
consultation with Greenhavens, they appeared at the table before Christmas 
offering support. This has now changed to wanting direct funding. As partners 
ourselves, it is increasingly clear that we don’t have any influence over how this 
project develops and who are the partners, this is now completely led by SDNP 
and LDC. The dynamics of our position within the partnership has shifted 
considerably and we are there to merely provide the community projects, which 
is fine providing it doesn’t cause conflict to our existing relationships. LDC have 
clearly indicated that they do not want to work with Greenhavens or Idverde 
directly. Having discussed this at length with my own line manager, he is of the 
view, if LDC don’t want to work with Idverde, then I should step back from the 
project as they don’t want our services. The way this has developed has put 
considerable strain on our relationships and Idverde cannot be put in this sort of 
situation. To Idverde, it is a simple as they offered a service (my time) and that if 
LDC don’t want to work with us then the service is no longer required. SDNP are 
considering just putting in for a development grant to fund a full time post to work 
these projects up as they don’t have the time to cost these projects that are 
coming forward. This would be hosted by them and would work across the 
partners to develop the projects more fully over 12 months, ironically you would 
think that LDC would provide some resource to support or perhaps the other 
partner TTL. This is something that would have to be discussed with committee 
and the network as to whether we want to continue in this partnership and how 
that works going forward. The rapid developments of the last few weeks and how 
SDNP has managed the relationships has been very damaging to Greenhavens 
and Idverde and most of that can be placed at LDC door handling of this. I look 
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forward to hearing from you in regard to your conflict of interest scenario and how 
we manage that before we have our network meeting on Wednesday.” 
 

4.39  Councillor Gauntlett replied that there was no conflict in his Chairing both the 
Council and Greenhavens; that the Council intended on having formal 
discussions with her employers about her recent behaviour; that the Lottery bid 
was going ahead regardless, and he did not want Greenhavens to miss out on 
what was a massive opportunity for them. His email ended: “I cannot stress 
enough that the incoming LDC administration sees Greenhavens as a key 
partner. LDC does want to work with Idverde but will not be told what to do by 
one of their employees who is ultimately paid through the contract between LDC 
and Idverde. I had not intended to reply to you until I had had more conversations 
with LDC especially as you left me a voicemail describing LDC as “a political 
cesspit”. I am the Chair of LDC and am not prepared to have it described as this. 
I don’t intend to enter into email exchanges this weekend but in my opinion, it 
would be unnecessary and ill advised to bring the “conflict” as you describe it, to 
the attention of the network at the meeting on Wednesday”. 

 
4.40 On 2 March 2020, Emma Allen from SDNP asked for the views of the 

Greenhavens Committee about changing the Lottery bid to a developmental bid. 
Councillor Gauntlett responded in favour of this change and questioned whether 
Greenhavens were sufficiently progressed as an organisation to handle the 
finances or whether it would be prudent to make them a Community Interest 
Company. Ms Rigby-Faux responded that the other three members of the 
Greenhavens Committee also agreed, subject to some clarifications about 
whether Greenhavens would remain a main partner and whether they could still 
influence how the bid looked; both of which were confirmed by Emma Allen to be 
the case. 
  

4.41 On 2 March 2020 Councillor Bird emailed Councillor Carr, Mr Frost and Ms Allen 
about the concerns raised in relation to Ms Rigby-Faux: “Julie [Councillor Carr] 
and I spoke on the phone on Friday about this situation and I hope this email 
represents our shared response. It’s really sad this has arisen and I am confused 
as to why it has got so toxic and personal. If it is possible I think we need to 
separate Karen’s contractual work with LDC from her input/work on the climate 
bid. Obviously this is tied up with her Greenhaven’s role also. At this moment in 
time as far as I’m concerned our priority is the success of the bid and I think this 
may well be sabotaged if Karen is removed from the bid. Our involvement with 
the bid was intended to help facilitate broader partnership working and the 
strongest submission possible. I don’t doubt that Karen would promote this 
entirely the other way if she is removed from the process.” Councillors Bird and 
Carr suggested that they arrange a meeting with Ms Rigby-Faux to discuss how 
all parties might move forward. 
 

4.42 The following day Ms Rigby-Faux’s manager at Idverde emailed Mr Frost: “Karen 
spoke with me in length last Thursday (27.02.2020) and again yesterday 
(02.03.2020) expressing her concerns and I asked her to withdraw from the bid 
until I had spoken with LDC about the matter. Karen expressed that she did not 
want to continue with it anyway and requested a sensitive but quick withdrawal 
(02.03.2020)”. Mr Frost acknowledged the email and asked what Ms Rigby-
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Faux’s intentions were regarding Greenhavens: “As you are aware, Karen’s 
involvement with this group was only intended as short term, whilst the group 
was set up.” 
 

4.43 Mr Frost updated Councillor Carr, Councillor Bird and Emma Allen. Emma Allen 
asked if Councillor Gauntlett was aware as she wanted to ensure that 
Greenhavens still played a central role in the Lottery bid and that she would 
discuss how best to do that with Councillor Gauntlett. She added: “Note that all 
other parties involved are happy to go for development funding. For info I’ve 
pasted below the rationale I sent to the Greenhavens committee last night, which 
they have all agreed with and SDNPA will prepare a suitable statement for Karen 
to take to the network meeting about it tomorrow”. 
 

4.44 On 5 March 2020 Councillor Gauntlett emailed the Greenhavens Committee 
stating that he had taken advice from friends with a deeper understanding of how 
community projects prosper in the long term and he felt that the size of the 
Committee should be increased, adding governance and an advisory capacity. 
Councillor Gauntlett said that he felt that this should be done before the 
Committee’s AGM and therefore wanted the visioning day to be postponed. Ms 
Rigby-Faux responded that she disagreed with cancelling10 the visioning day that 
Greenhavens Network should be led by its community. The following day Ms 
Judy Pepper replied that she also thought the visioning day should go ahead. 

 
4.45 Ms Rigby-Faux saw this as the point where it became clear that Councillor 

Gauntlett was no longer acting in the best interests of the Greenhavens Network, 
because he clearly had no further interest in discussing what its members wanted 
from the Lottery bid. In her comments on the draft report, she stated (with her 
emphasis) “Councillor Steven Gauntlet cancelled the workshop WITHOUT the 
consent of the committee who disagreed to the cancellation without any 
consultation as they felt the community groups should have a voice, furthermore 
the key stakeholder groups wanted it to go ahead thus complying with the 
constitution.  Councillor Steven Gauntlet stated that a new committee should set 
the direction of Greenhavens, this was following a meeting he had with SCDA 
and 3VA and SDNP and was the first anyone had heard of this new idea 
considering he had helped organise the vision workshop in the first place, it 
therefore came as a huge shock.  The investigator does not make this clear in 
this summary point. IT WAS NOT JUST [Ms Rigby-Faux] that disagreed with 
the cancellation, it was a number of community groups and the Greenhavens 
committee, Ms Rigby-Faux was just doing her job as secretary.”   
 

4.46 On 9 March 2020, Councillor Gauntlett emailed the Greenhavens Committee to 
confirm that he had identified some volunteers who were willing to join, though 
he commented that a conflict between Greenhavens and the Council, and Ms 
Rigby-Faux’s insistence that councillors be excluded as potential members, 
would not help the situation. Ms Rigby-Faux told us that at this time Councillor 
Gauntlett also asked her to step down as Committee secretary. In her complaint 

 
10 In is comments on the draft report, Councillor Gauntlett told us that Ms Rigby-Faux’s reframing of 
his suggestion – from ‘postpone’ to ‘cancel’ – demonstrates her intent to paint him as having no 
interest in discussing what Network members wanted from the Bid. He told us that this was her 
assumption and not fact. 
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she stated that Councillor Gauntlett wrote to members “From the Chair, I am 
asking that there is vote of confidence as to the impartiality of Karen Rigby-Faux 
to best represent the future wellbeing of Greenhavens.  It is beyond doubt that 
her immense hard work has advanced the cause and profile of Greenhavens 
immensely, even beyond expectations but her recent interventions have caused 
much questioning and I feel that the time is right to take stock” 

 
4.47 During this period, Councillor Gauntlett and Ms Rigby-Faux11 also had a 

disagreement over the role played by Hannah Shearman on the Committee after 
Ms Shearman had indicated that she would in the future be representing her 
employer’s12 interests on the Committee. Ms Rigby-Faux told us: ‘Hannah works 
for SCDA but she was on the Committee in her personal capacity, however once 
it became clear that SCDA were involved in the [Lottery] bid she told us that she 
was now representing SCDA on the Committee and insisted on using her SCDA 
email address and phone number. I told Hannah that she had not been voted 
onto the Committee in her professional capacity and she then stood down from 
the Committee. This caused issues amongst the committee as Lizzie13 felt that 
Hannah should step down, but Judy was upset about it. Hannah had insisted she 
knew nothing about the new Lottery bid or that her company were going to be 
receiving substantial amounts of money from it. I have since seen emails from 
Councillor Gauntlett to the Chief Executive of SCDA and Hannah which indicate 
that she was aware of this fact.’  
 

4.48 At interview Councillor Gauntlett told us: ‘This all happened when the details of 
the bid came out that showed SCDA were involved. Karen wrote to the 
Committee saying that we should not communicate with Hannah (the Treasurer 
who works for SCDA) because she has too much interest in the bid. I felt this 
was weird. I could not see how this made any difference at all to Hannah being 
there. SCDA were a member of Greenhavens and Hannah was there with her 
boss’s blessing. Hannah had been told by her boss to be on the Committee as a 
representative of SCDA as opposed to in her private capacity. I thought this was 
fine. It had been written into the development bid that SCDA would manage the 
post that the bid would fund at Greenhavens.’ This issue resulted in Hannah 
Shearman resigning from the Greenhavens Committee. 

 
4.49 On 11 March 2020, Councillor Gauntlett met with Ms Rigby-Faux’s line manager 

from Idverde so that he could share the ‘political cesspit’ voicemail with them14.   
 

4.50 On 16 March 2020, Councillor Gauntlett emailed Andy Frost to tell him that he 
had met with Ms Rigby-Faux’s line manager at Idverde. He told Mr Frost that Ms 

 
11 In her comments on the draft Ms Rigby-Faux again states that she is only acting on the wishes of 
most of the Committee and Greenhaven’s member organisations. 
12 SCDA 
13 Lizzie Hornsbury had recently become a member of Greenhavens Committee, 
14 Mr Frost told us at interview that following his earlier email expressing concern about Ms Rigby-
Faux’s conduct, Idverde had requested a copy of the answerphone recording. Mr Frost said that he 
contacted the Council’s Information Governance Manager to see if the message could be passed on; 
she confirmed that it could. Mr Frost said that he then contacted Councillor Gauntlett and he agreed 
to provide it to Idverde. Mr Frost was clear that it was Idverde who sought the information and that 
they instigated the meeting with Councillor Gauntlett.    
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Rigby-Faux had called an emergency AGM of the Greenhavens Network for 6 
April 2020, with the intention of ensuring that the Greenhavens Network had a 
new Committee without members who were also involved with the Council or 
SCDA.  

 
4.51 Mr Frost replied that he intended to write to Idverde very soon to make it clear 

that she should no longer be involved with Greenhavens or the Lottery bid in a 
professional capacity. He pointed out though that this did not stop her continuing 
with Greenhavens in a voluntary capacity. Councillor Gauntlett replied to confirm 
that he had blind-copied Ms Rigby-Faux’s manager into his previous email, 
commenting that she was trying to remove him.  
 

4.52 On 31st March 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux sent an email to Emma Allen to remind her 
that the deadline for the Lottery bid was approaching and that no one from the 
Greenhavens Committee had been able to review it. Emma Allen confirmed that 
she had been liaising directly with Councillor Gauntlett on the matter as Chair of 
Greenhavens.  

 
4.53 Ms Rigby-Faux asked to be sent a copy of the draft bid, telling Ms Allen that 

Councillor Gauntlett did not have authority to represent the Greenhavens 
Network; that he had numerous conflicts of interest; and that many of the 
community groups in the Network were not happy with him. 

 
4.54 Ms Allen responded to confirm that Greenhavens were at the heart of the bid and 

that Councillor Gauntlett had indicated that they were happy with it. Ms Allen 
added that Councillor Gauntlett had told her that Ms Rigby-Faux was no longer 
involved in the Lottery bid and therefore she suggested that Ms Rigby-Faux 
contact Councillor Gauntlett for further information. When Ms Rigby-Faux said 
that she intended to inform all the Network community groups that the Lottery bid 
application was going to be submitted without their input, Ms Allen asked her not 
to cause unnecessary alarm and again suggested that Ms Rigby-Faux discuss 
the matter with Councillor Gauntlett.  

 
4.55 Councillor Gauntlett, who had been copied into the above email exchange, 

responded that his priority now was working with Emergency Team Covid. He 
did express the view though that Greenhavens remained at the centre of the bid 
and that he had signed it off on behalf of the Greenhavens Committee because 
he had been informed by Mr Frost that Ms Rigby-Faux was no longer working on 
it.  

 
4.56 Ms Rigby-Faux asked Councillor Gauntlett to circulate the Lottery application 

properly so that all interested parties could see it. Councillor Gauntlett sent it to 
Committee members late on 3 April 2020; he also informed members of the 
Network that Ms Rigby-Faux had stepped back from her role with the Lottery bid.  

 
4.57 On 3 April 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux emailed members of the Committee to express 

the view that the application was not representative of the proposal Greenhavens 
had sent to its members. She also made the point that Councillor Gauntlett had 
not been authorised to sign the bid off on their behalf as he had not consulted 
with the Committee. She said that in her view Councillor Gauntlett’s actions 
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demonstrated that his focus was on securing what was in the best interest of the 
Council rather than on doing what was best for the members of the Greenhavens 
Network.15  

 
4.58 Ms Rigby-Faux also made it clear that while she had stepped away from the 

Lottery bid in her professional capacity as CLO, she had not done so in her 
voluntary capacity as secretary to the Greenhavens Committee. Ms Rigby-Faux 
went on to assert that Councillor Gauntlett had repeatedly failed to attend 
meetings of the Greenhavens Committee or engage with them electronically and 
that she was disappointed at the way he had treated her both personally and 
professionally.  

 
4.59 In response to this email, Ms Pepper resigned as a Greenhavens Committee 

member; this left only three remaining (including Ms Rigby-Faux and Councillor 
Gauntlett). In her resignation email, Ms Pepper said she thought that Councillor 
Gauntlett had consulted with the Committee before the Lottery applications was 
signed off and that it appeared to be an excellent bid. Ms Pepper did though 
stress that the Greenhavens Network would not be where it was without the 
tireless efforts of Ms Rigby-Faux. Ms Rigby-Faux responded to Ms Pepper’s 
resignation by writing that she understood, and she hoped that once a new 
committee could be formed this would restore her faith in Greenhavens. Ms 
Pepper did agree to continue working on the Greenhavens website. 

 
4.60 On 3 April 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux emailed Ms Emma Allen to let her know that 

there were errors in the Lottery bid, both with regards to the Network’s proposed 
projects and its stated history. She pointed out that there was no employee post 
for Greenhavens in the bid, which was the reason for Greenhavens entering the 
bid process in the first place. Ms Rigby-Faux also pointed to governance 
concerns within Greenhavens that meant that she could not consider it as 
‘approved’ by the Greenhavens Committee. She stated that further consultation 
with their members was required.   

 
4.61 Ms Allen replied that the bid had to be submitted within 48 hours; that it was a 

developmental bid only and that any niggling errors could be sorted out later. Ms 
Allen explained that employee posts would be established in the developmental 
phase, stating: ”there will obviously need to be a role to support the delivery of 
the Greenhavens elements – but whether that post can be hosted by 
Greenhavens relies on Greenhavens being an entity that is in a position to host 
staff. This is something that I have been informed is not the case at present. Ms 
Allen said that the information about the origins of Greenhavens had been given 
to her by Councillor Gauntlett and Penny Shimmin (Director of SCDA); that she 
had tried her best to make sense of the information Ms Rigby-Faux had sent her 
(much of which she found incoherent) and bring it together in a meaningful way 
to everyone’s satisfaction. Ms Allen finished by stating that Ms Rigby-Faux’s 
unpleasant attitude towards her and other people in the project was making her 

 
15 In his comments on the draft report, Councillor Gauntlett stressed that “the bid was signed off by 
me on the basis that it was NOT the final bid but the Development phase and that members of 
Greenhavens (there is no formal membership - .the Committee is their representation), would be 
involved fully in the process of working up the final bid through 2021. The Greenhavens Committee 
was below its constituted strength at the time.” 
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ill and she asked that Ms Rigby-Faux stop contacting her both personally and 
professionally.  
 

4.62 Councillor Gauntlett, who had been copied into the above email trail, forwarded 
it to Councillor Carr, Councillor Bird, Idverde and others. Councillor Gauntlett 
wrote: “I need to echo what Emma has said. I have had discussions this morning 
with several people who feel most upset with the attitude Karen is taking towards 
this bid and towards me personally. As Chair of Greenhavens I am clear that 
there is no time for further amendments. The Committee is presently 
dysfunctional due to two overnight resignations caused in part by Karen’s recent 
interventions. After the bid is submitted, I will meet with the other partners to 
consider how best to regroup the Greenhavens Network. For example, I have 
been contacted by individuals who are immediately willing to join the Committee 
but not with Karen exercising her present interventionist role. I have copied the 
Chief Execs of SCDA and 3VA because I am not prepared to see this first class 
bid jeopardised, together with the LDC Cabinet Members. Because I’m not sure 
how all this relates to Karen’s present furlough from Idverde, I am copying them 
for information. This is a fundamental and critical bid and I write this wearing both 
my Lewes District Council Chair and Greenhavens Chair hats.” 
 

4.63 Councillor Gauntlett told us at interview: ‘There was only about a week between 
Karen not working on the bid anymore and the bid details being announced, but 
during this time I was making decisions on behalf of Greenhavens. I was aware 
that SCDA had been installed in the bid to manage the employee posts that were 
proposed, but I did not see this was an issue because again it was a development 
bid only and not the whole bid, so there was time to consult with members about 
the details. My feeling is that Greenhavens is a loose affiliation of like-minded 
people and it is not a common voice. I feel it is unlikely that every group will agree 
to a particular course of action. I know that Karen believes that many of the 
members of the Greenhavens Network did not like SCDA. I think this would be 
hard to prove. SCDA is the nursery for start-up ideas in the voluntary sector. 
They started Greenhavens. Putting SCDA into the bid was a good thing. They 
have a proper board with directors. It was only when they were placed into the 
bid that Karen took offence at them.’   

 
4.64 In response to reading this in the draft report, Ms Rigby Faux stated: “KRF 

removed herself from the lottery bid on 28 February. The bid was submitted on 
the 6 April. KRF remained as secretary of Greenhavens during this time. KRF 
did not at any time take offence to SCDA; the community groups did not want to 
work through them and this was not part of what Greenhavens lottery bid had 
developed with them. Their feedback was submitted on the 23/04/20. The 
investigator fails to supply the information that highlights VERY CLEARLY that 
the community groups DID NOT want to work with SCDA, that it was not an 
opinion of KRF but that of the groups.  That Councillor Steven Gauntlett DID 
NOT have the buy in of the groups to proceed with a lottery bid on completely 
different parameters that was put before the Greenhavens committee at such a 
late hour – even the Greenhavens address on the forms was written down as c/o 
SCDA! He had made no committee member or group aware of these 
fundamental changes given that he had had all over March to convey the 
changes he had made and agreed to.”    
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4.65 The second stage of the Lottery application process was completed without 

further alteration on 6 April 2020. At the time of submission, the Greenhavens 
Committee consisted of Councillor Gauntlett, Ms Rigby-Faux and Ms Lizzie 
Hornsbury16.  
 
Events leading up to the submission of the complaint. 
 

4.66 On 6 April 2020, Mr Frost informed Idverde that the Council no longer required 
them to provide a CLO and asked that the position be removed from their 
contract. The reasons given in the letter were that: 

 
• since the original contract had been signed in 2015, the District Council 

had joined forces with Eastbourne Borough Council, developed an 
effective Neighbourhood First community team and that this team was 
carrying out a lot of the work previously carried out by the CLO. 

• this team was carrying out meetings with local park users, which was 
previously a role of the CLO. 

• there were a number of tasks in the original contract that were meant to 
be carried out by the CLO which had not materialised, such as organising 
events, supporting Green Flag applications, working with sports groups 
and carrying out sample inspections of contract sites. 

• Idverde’s take-over of Burleys (the original contract was with Burleys) 
meant that they (as a larger company) had the ability / capacity to assist 
the Council with potential funding bids on an ad hoc rather than fulltime 
basis. 

• that the role of the CLO in attending housing tenant groups was being 
carried out by the Contract supervisor. 

• that the Council had to find significant savings in their budget due to the 
current financial position. 

 
Mr Frost was adamant at interview that the decision to remove the CLO position 
from the Council’s contract with Idverde had nothing to do with the concerns that 
had been made about Ms Rigby-Faux personally or been influenced in any way 
by Councillor Gauntlett. It should be noted that Ms Rigby-Faux was unaware of 
Mr Frost’s letter at this time and that she continued to be employed by Idverde 
during the period relevant to this investigation (during this period she was 
furloughed due to the Covid-19 pandemic).  

 
4.67 On 6 April 2020 Leslie Boniface (a Newhaven Town Councillor and a member of 

Councillor Gauntlett’s political group) contacted Councillor Gauntlett urging him 
to resolve the difficulties the Greenhavens Committee was facing. She also 
asked him to address some concerns she had about the involvement of SCDA. 
Councillor Gauntlett responded by providing a history of SCDA’s involvement in 
Greenhavens; stating that Greenhavens remained central to the Lottery bid and 
that Ms Rigby-Faux’s comments and conduct towards him and others had left 
the Council with no choice but to make a complaint to Idverde about her conduct.  
Ms Boniface responded that she had been unaware that SCDA were still so 

 
16 Greenhavens Constitution states that there should be a minimum of seven Committee members. 
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involved and that she thought Hannah Shearman’s involvement had been in her 
private capacity. She commented that she had previously told Ms Rigby-Faux 
that she was prepared to join Greenhavens Committee, however had been told 
that that Greenhavens was non-political and had suffered in the past from the 
involvement of too many politicians.  
 

4.68 On 11 April 2020, Ms Hornsbury sent an email to all the community groups in the 
Greenhavens Network. She informed them that the Lottery bid had been 
submitted with unprecedented changes including that the funding allocated for a 
member of a staff to run Greenhavens had gone to SCDA; this could mean that 
effectively SCDA would now be running the Network. The email also informed 
members of two resignations from the Greenhavens Committee and that one of 
the community groups, on behalf of several other groups, had asked Ms Rigby-
Faux as secretary to call an Emergency Committee meeting to discuss why the 
Chair of Greenhavens (Councillor Gauntlett) had cancelled the Future of 
Greenhavens workshop; allowed the Treasurer to go from being a personal 
member on the Committee to being a representative of SCDA; called for Ms 
Rigby-Faux to step down; and why he now wanted Greenhavens to become a 
Community Interest Company. The email asked that the community groups let 
her know whether they wanted the Network to continue as it is; whether they 
would be prepared to be on the Committee; and whether they would prefer 
Greenhavens to be run by a professional organisation (SCDA). The groups were 
also asked if they would like an EGM held via Zoom and whether they would be 
part of a new Network if it was necessary and possible to form one. 

 
4.69 On 15 April 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux emailed Councillor Gauntlett to ask whether 

he intended to remain as Chair of Greenhavens. She also let him know that five 
members of the Network had offered to join the Greenhavens Committee and 
that she was aware, through a third party, that he had proposed two new 
members.  

 
4.70 Councillor Gauntlett responded with a warning that Ms Rigby-Faux’s actions 

were creating an unbridgeable divide between SDNP, 3VA, SCDA and the 
Council, all of whom he wanted to assist Greenhavens in the future. 

 
4.71 On 20 April 2020, Councillor Steve Saunders emailed Councillor Gauntlett, 

having been told by Ms Rigby-Faux that Councillor Gauntlett had arbitrarily 
signed off on a Lottery bid that would effectively see SCDA takeover 
Greenhavens without even consulting the Greenhavens Committee or Network 
members. Councillor Saunders called on Councillor Gauntlett to convene a 
meeting of the Greenhavens Committee to resolve these issues.  

 
4.72 Councillor Gauntlett responded to Councillor Saunders by arguing that it had 

been an excellent Lottery bid which did not propose that Greenhavens be taken 
over by SCDA. Councillor Gauntlett acknowledged that Ms Rigby-Faux 
fundamentally disagreed with him on this; he asserted though that four 
Committee members had resigned either partly or wholly because they could not 
work with Ms Rigby-Faux.  
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4.73 Councillor Sean Macleod, who had been copied into the email trail, responded 
to Councillor Gauntlett to question his conflict of interest. He stated that he was 
appalled by the way in which Ms Rigby-Faux had been treated and understood 
that pressure was being put on Idverde to terminate her contract, even though 
she only worked with Greenhavens in a voluntary capacity. He suggested that 
the only people who had a ‘problem’ with Ms Rigby-Faux were Councillors 
Gauntlett and Bird. 
 

4.74 On 23 April 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux emailed Councillor Gauntlett and Ms Emma 
Allen, copying in Ms Allen’s line manager, among others. In her email, Ms Rigby-
Faux referenced Ms Allen’s email of 3 April (which ended in Ms Allen asking Ms 
Rigby-Faux not to contact her again) and emails from Councillors Gauntlett and 
Bird. Ms Rigby-Faux said “The unfounded and uncalled for emails below have 
caused me great anguish, particularly as I worked incredibly hard to get the 
majority of projects cited into this funding application of which there is absolutely 
no note off. I cannot accept the way you have all spoken about me and the 
subsequent appalling defamation of character emails that have I have 
subsequently seen sight off. You all know that i had a breakdown on the 27th 
February following another stressful unpleasant meeting, where i was yet again 
humiliated; I have been sworn at, undermined, threatened and treated quite 
despicably. I have not replicated that treatment. You are also all aware that I am 
Secretary of Greenhavens in my own private, personal time. I have always 
maintained that the community groups should be consulted with and as the 
project you have devised is significantly different to one that was originally 
presented to them, they should have had the opportunity to discuss whether that 
is right for them. That is how the model of community participation works. The 
Chair of Greenhavens Network was elected to represent the members and to 
work with its committee, NO community group members or committee member 
was aware of the significant change within the funding application. The 
community groups have been consulted with and there are a majority that do 
not wish to be ran with SCDA, I attach some of the responses has had with 
their names removed for confidentiality. There is a new committee waiting to run 
Greenhavens Network when the finally Chair agrees to have a digitally ran EGM, 
which to date he has refused, there is no confidence in the current Chair, this 
has been confirmed by the majority of the community groups. You will therefore 
shortly have a new committee of people that represents the community groups; 
they have already indicated that they do not wish to be ran by SCDA and feel 
strongly that the network should remain an independent community led group, 
that will apply for funding in their own right to run their network, (should the lottery 
application not allow a change of direction of funding) which was always the 
original plan. that Ms Allen’s comments were unfounded and uncalled for and 
that she (Ms Rigby-Faux) had worked incredibly hard to get the projects cited 
into the Lottery bid, which there was no note of. Ms Rigby-Faux stated that she 
could not accept the way she had been spoken about and the defamatory emails 
she had had sight of; that she had been threatened, sworn at (Ms Rigby-Faux 
referred to the occasion when Ms Allen had told sworn at her) and treated 
despicably; but that she had not replicated that treatment.” 

 
4.75 On 1 May 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux and Ms Hornsbury sent out an email to all 

Network members titled ‘Help shape our future’; it was signed by ‘Karen – 
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Volunteer”. It invited Network member groups to join a “new volunteer team of 
like-minded, community minded people that have some dedicated time to take 
Greenhavens to its next step in its journey to help galvanise people and 
community groups in their local green spaces.” 

 
4.76 Councillor Gauntlett became aware of the email shortly after it was sent out. He 

emailed Councillor Bird, Councillor Carr, Emma Allen and other parties with an 
interest in the bid to inform them that the proposal had been made without his 
knowledge, that he believed it unconstitutional and that he was concerned at the 
potential impact it might have on the Lottery bid and on how funds held by the 
existing Greenhavens Network should be managed.  Councillor Gauntlett copied 
the email to Idverde: “because it is important that they are aware what their 
furloughed employee is doing.”  

 
4.77 Also, on 1 May 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux and Ms Pepper became embroiled in a 

disagreement over some photographs that Ms Pepper had allowed to be used 
on Greenhavens website. These photographs had subsequently appeared in the 
Lottery bid and Ms Pepper emailed Ms Rigby-Faux to ask why her permission 
had not been sought. Ms Rigby-Faux replied saying that when she had taken on 
Ms Pepper as a volunteer, it was made clear that her photographs could be used 
by Greenhavens in any way they wanted.  Councillor Gauntlett later emailed Ms 
Rigby-Faux after he became aware of a disagreement. He stated “I find your 
statement extraordinary and despotic as I do your illegitimate “Help Shape our 
Future” email. I have contacted your employer as I received 3 calls within 15 
minutes of that email asking me “is this the Karen from Burleys?” Once again, 
you have sent out emails of which I had no prior knowledge, and I will respond 
in due course.” 

 
4.78 In her complaint, Ms Rigby-Faux highlighted an email that had been sent by 

Councillor Graham Amy (in his capacity as a trustee of SCDA) to Castle Hill 
Conservation Group (a member of Greenhavens Network) on 2 May 2020. Ms 
Rigby-Faux told us that the email included the malicious rumour, which she 
asserted was started by Councillor Gauntlett, that she was trying to disrupt the 
Lottery bid because she wanted the Greenhavens coordinator role. Ms Rigby-
Faux told us that she did not want the proposed role because it was part time 
and she needed to stay in full-time employment.  

 
4.79 On 6 May 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux emailed Councillor Gauntlett to inform him that 

Greenhaven’s AGM would take place on 3 June 2020. As part of his response, 
Councillor Gauntlett said that the ongoing dispute was causing unnecessary 
damage, the latest example of which was Ms Rigby-Faux’s treatment of Ms 
Pepper which he found ‘regrettable and uncharitable’. 

 
4.80 On 7 May 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux replied to Councillor Gauntlett to point out that 

council and central government meetings were now taking place via video 
conferencing and that all the Greenhavens network member groups have the 
capacity to join a virtual meeting. She reiterated that Councillor Gauntlett had 
failed to communicate properly with members over the Lottery bid and that the 
EAGM would be his opportunity to explain and convince the member groups to 
back to him. Ms Rigby-Faux stated that ‘failure to do so would result in a vote of 
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no confidence’ at the meeting and a new committee would be formally elected. 
Ms Rigby-Faux reiterated that Greenhavens was constituted as a peer-to-peer 
networking organisation for local green groups and that she strongly 
recommended that he attend the meeting to explain what had happened and how 
it impacted on the future of the Greenhavens Network. Councillor Gauntlett did 
not respond further to this email.  

 
4.81 On 11 May 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux emailed Councillor Gauntlett again to ask if he 

would be attending the EAGM on 3 June 2020. Councillor Gauntlett responded 
by referring Ms Rigby-Faux to his previous email, where he stated that a Zoom 
EAGM was not feasible. 
 

4.82 On 12 May 2020, Ms Lesley Boniface emailed Councillor Gauntlett regarding the 
proposed EAGM. In his response, Councillor Gauntlett told her that Ms Rigby-
Faux had three times refused to circulate emails he had drafted to the Network 
groups but had sent out two major communications to them without referring to 
him. Councillor Gauntlett said that he assumed that Ms Rigby-Faux now felt as if 
she ran the Network alone and that this had not gone unnoticed by the member 
groups. Councillor Gauntlett reiterated that he felt a Zoom EAGM was not 
feasible. He stated that Ms Rigby-Faux had recently ‘dismissed’ Ms Pepper in a 
most unpleasant way and that this was a continuation of the way she treated 
Hannah Shearman and the way she communicated with him over the last two 
months; he asserted that she had used ‘highly charged language’. Councillor 
Gauntlett stated that he expected a progress report from SDNP concerning the 
Lottery bid by the end of the week and it remained to be seen whether Ms Rigby-
Faux would send this out to members; he confirmed that if she did not then he 
would do it personally. 

 
4.83 In Ms Boniface’s response, sent the following day, she assured Councillor 

Gauntlett that Ms Rigby-Faux was not running the Greenhavens Network alone 
and that there were several member groups who had shown concerns about the 
Lottery bid / the way things were going. Ms Boniface pointed out that Ms Rigby-
Faux’s role as secretary of the Greenhavens Committee had nothing to do with 
her employment with Idverde; that she felt a Zoom EAGM was perfectly possible; 
and that and that one of the items on the agenda would be ‘the sudden return of 
SCDA’, which was why she felt it was important for Councillor Gauntlett to attend 
the meeting and explain what had happened. Ms Boniface told Councillor 
Gauntlett that if he did not plan on attending then she thought he should provide 
her with a statement to read out on his behalf. Ms Boniface also asserted that 
that neither Ms Pepper or Ms Shearman had been dismissed; Ms Pepper had 
refused to interact with Ms Rigby-Faux despite numerous attempts to bring her 
back on board and Ms Shearman had resigned because of the conflict of 
interests of her being treasurer with her employment at SCDA.  
 

4.84 On 14 May 2020, Councillor Gauntlett responded to Ms Boniface to confirm that 
he would update the Greenhavens Network once he had received a detailed 
update from SDNP about the Lottery bid. Councillor Gauntlett told Ms Boniface 
that the Lottery bid had been a SDNP initiative which Greenhavens had been 
invited to participate in, along with others. Councillor Gauntlett confirmed that Ms 
Rigby-Faux had written the content of the bid for Greenhavens and that the only 
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change to her proposal had been the deletion of the part-time administrator 
position; he said that he did not believe that Greenhavens were in a position to 
become an employer but that this may come after the development phase.   

 
4.85 Councillor Gauntlett told Ms Boniface that he had tried to support, defend, and 

reassure Ms Rigby-Faux over the previous twelve months, however he had now 
run out of time and goodwill. He referred to the email exchange between Ms 
Rigby-Faux and Ms Pepper, which he stated made ‘dismal reading’. He said that 
he had lost count of the number of ‘orders’ he had received from Ms Rigby-Faux 
over the last six weeks and he had no intention of working with her any longer. 
Councillor Gauntlett indicated that he would almost certainly not stand in the 
Greenhaven Committee elections after his term a Council Chair had come to an 
end, ‘especially if I were to have LDC Cabinet responsibilities’. Councillor 
Gauntlett said that he wanted to leave Greenhavens in a stable position, which 
included supporting a Lottery bid which he believed would be of real community 
benefit; he added that it would be regrettable if it was derailed by one person's 
discontent. He was clear that Ms Rigby-Faux’s attempt to create a new 
Greenhavens would disrupt the Network and threatened the delivery of the 
Lottery bid. 
 

4.86 On 16 May 2020, following an email sent by the Greenhavens Committee telling 
members that the EAGM would be held on 3 June 2020 by Zoom, Councillor 
Gauntlett emailed all members to advise that he had not been involved with the 
decision to hold the EAGM and that he had currently had no time to commit to 
chairing or attending it. Councillor Gauntlett said that he did not consider it 
necessary to hold such a meeting in the current climate (during the Covid 
pandemic) and that the meeting should be delayed until after the result of the 
Lottery bid was announced. Councillor Gauntlett referred to the fact that there 
had been four resignations from the Committee since the last EAGM in (June 
2019) which had been avoidable and unnecessary. He also informed members 
that that he had not been consulted or notified before the ‘Help shape our future’ 
document had been published.17  

 
4.87 On 27 May 2020, Ms Boniface emailed Councillor Gauntlett to ask Councillor 

Gauntlett the outcome of a SDNPA stakeholder meeting about the Lottery bid, 
which she assumed he had attended on behalf of Greenhavens. Councillor 
Gauntlett replied that he had no knowledge of the meeting and had not attended. 
He also told Ms Boniface that a few groups/individuals had told him that they did 
not believe the Greenhavens AGM was going to be constitutionally valid. During 
their exchange, Ms Boniface said there were unanswered questions that needed 
addressing; some of the Network members felt that they could not support the 
Lottery bid given that SCDA were now running the projects that some groups had 
been seeking funding for. Councillor Gauntlett responded that the AGM had only 
been called by two of the three members of the Committee and that the requisite 
twenty-one days’ notice of the meeting had not been given. Councillor Gauntlett 
added that two major Greenhavens Network member organisations had already 

 
17 In is comments on the draft report, Councillor Gauntlett told us that while he acknowledged writing 
the emails, they had been sent from his personal email and he considered them part of a private, 
friendly exchange. In her comments, Ms Rigby-Faux denied ever attempting to create a ‘new’ 
Greenhavens, describing it as an example of Councillor Gauntlett spreading malicious gossip. 
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contacted SDNPA to say they wished to be a part of the Lottery bid, that the bid 
was much needed to fulfil both the SDNP and the Council’s climate change and 
environmental strategies, and that if Greenhavens did not wish to be a part of it 
then so be it.  

 
4.88 On 27 May 2020, Councillor Gauntlett also contacted the Council’s Senior 

Lawyer to seek advice in relation to the £1,000 grant he had made to the 
Greenhavens Network the previous year from the Council Chair’s Fund. 
Councillor Gauntlett told us he did so because: “This grant was made under the 
ORIGINAL Constitution for Greenhavens and was informally intended as a 
contribution towards the upkeep of their website over several years. When Ms 
Rigby-Faux called the AGM for June 2020, she included with the agenda a 
substantially re-written Constitution which EXCLUDED working with Local 
Authorities as Stakeholders (consistent with her attempt in 2019 to exclude 
councillor involvement with the Network). I believed this was contrary to the spirit 
of the grant that I had authorised as Chair of LDC and sought advice from the 
LDC Senior Lawyer.”   

 
4.89 When contacting the Council’s Senior Lawyer, Councillor Gauntlett mentioned 

that the faction within Greenhavens that he was concerned about were looking 
to hold an AGM with insufficient notice, and on the agenda would be the election 
of posts including Chair even though he had not stood down. Councillor Gauntlett 
expressed the concern that if he was “ousted” as Chair, he’d have no further 
control or influence over how his Chair’s funds were spent.   Related to this, 
Councillor Gauntlett was concerned that any attempt on his part to impede the 
holding of this AGM might be seen by Ms Rigby-Faux as inappropriate 
interference by the Council Chair, which might lead to her complaining he had 
brought his office and authority into disrepute.   

 
4.90 The Council’s Senior Lawyer offered an informal view to the effect that such an 

allegation was unlikely to succeed so long as his attempt to halt the AGM was 
made in good faith – ie. to help safeguard the LDC donated funds – and not done 
just for the sake of disrupting Greenhaven’s business or to undermine the 
authority of other Committee members. Councillor Gauntlett was advised though 
that as the Council’s Chair, he could not dictate how the £1,000 grant was spent 
so long as it met the Network’s overall purpose and objectives.  As Chair, his 
grant was issued with no specific conditions attached and so expenditure was 
now a matter for the Greenhaven’s Committee. 
    

4.91 On 29 May 2020, Ms Boniface emailed Councillor Gauntlett to discuss matters 
relating to Greenhavens business. When responding, on 30 May 2020 Councillor 
Gauntlett reiterated that the current Greenhavens Constitution had not been 
followed regarding the AGM and again referred to four previous committee 
members feeling bruised by their treatment; he added his own experience to that. 
Councillor Gauntlett told Ms Boniface: “I am very conscious that after the 
unilateral “dismissal” of Hannah as Treasurer; I am the only person with the bank 
mandate; possibly the only recourse left to me is to dissolve the original 
Greenhavens and that (as in the constitution), means returning money to the 
donors. The informal legal and accountancy advice I have is that as Chair of LDC 
and Greenhavens, I should follow that course. That advice is clear; Facebook 
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and Greenhavens website information containing the AGM notice and date does 
not constitute formal notice. If after Wednesday 3/6/20 there is a “second 
Greenhavens” I will write to Sussex Community Foundation, who donated £4000- 
so far not spent -to inform them that a “new “Greenhavens with a revised 
constitution has been formed and leave it to them to decide what they wish to do. 
The bank account also includes £1000 from my discretionary Chair of LDC fund 
which will be returned for redistribution. This will go towards food banks etc for 
Covid relief. That is because I cannot, in conscience, allow LDC funds to be used 
to subvert a multi-agency climate change initiative intended to mitigate and 
support biodiversity resilience for the benefit of Lewes District.” He also stated 
that the withdrawal of Greenhavens from the bid would be a disgrace and that 
he did not intend on continuing to Chair Greenhavens beyond his Chairing of the 
Council, which was likely to end in July. 
 

4.92 With regards to this email, Councillor Gauntlett told us “I discussed (via personal 
email exchange with the incoming Chair of Greenhavens, Cllr Lesley Boniface), 
possible re-direction towards Covid relief but in the event the Greenhavens 
members that attended the AGM required that Local Authorities be re- 
INCLUDED as stakeholders. So, the issue was resolved, and I passed over all 
the finances, bank mandate etc to the new Treasurer of Greenhavens during 
June 2020”. Councillor Gauntlett also told us: “I would not describe my 
interactions with KRF as a “power struggle”. I felt it very necessary to challenge 
her actions, especially concerning the resignations of previously willing and able 
Greenhavens Committee members together with her sustained efforts to block 
the multi-agency Bid to the Lottery. I was trying to prevent the “capsize” of both 
the Bid and Greenhavens. You will also see from my email to Lesley Boniface 
that I had no intention of continuing as Chair of Greenhavens when I (eventually) 
ceased to be Chair of LDC. 
 

4.93 On 6 June 2020, the Greenhavens Committee held their AGM on Zoom; 
Councillor Gauntlett did not attend. At the meeting members voted on a new 
Committee, electing Ms Boniface as Chair.   

 
4.94 On 11 June 2020, Councillor Gauntlett emailed the Council’s Senior Lawyer a 

copy of the AGM minutes along with his concerns that it had not been a legitimate 
meeting. Councillor Gauntlett asked for advice, particularly in relation to the grant 
he had awarded Greenhavens two years earlier. 
 

4.95 The Council’s Senior Lawyer advised that while Councillor Gauntlett could 
challenge the legitimacy of the meeting, there was not much he could do about 
it if members and the new Committee disagreed with him. In terms of the 
donation from the Chair’s fund, Councillor Gauntlett was advised that he had a 
legitimate interest in seeing the monies spent in the way he had intended, and, 
in that regard, it was recommended that he write to the new Chair and simply 
request that the £1,000 donated from the Council’s Chair's Fund be reserved for 
their original purpose; namely the maintenance and development of 
Greenhaven’s website over the next two years. 
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Relevant events following the submission of the complaint. 
 
4.96 On 15 June 2020 Ms Rigby-Faux submitted her Code of Conduct complaint to 

the Council’s Monitoring Officer.  
 

4.97 On 1 July 2020 Ms Rigby-Faux emailed the Monitoring Officer asking for an 
update on the progress of the complaint. she stated that she felt that the security 
of her job with Idverde was threatened.  

 
4.98 On 2 July 2020 Ms Rigby-Faux was informed by Idverde that they were making 

her role as Community Liaison Officer redundant.  
 

4.99 On 2 July 2020, Ms Boniface (as Chair of Greenhavens) wrote to the SDNP: “I 
appreciate that you didn’t want to go over the past, but it seems that it is 
necessary in order for you to understand how our groups and the Network is 
feeling. I have seen all the correspondence between the previous Chair and the 
previous secretary, and the SDNP.   It is very clear that Karen said throughout 
that the Network needed a funded post and indeed there are emails right up until 
the beginning of March where SDNP were in agreement.  There is also evidence 
indicating all the way through that the final lottery application would need to go 
to the Greenhavens committee and at least some stakeholder groups.  I have 
also seen emails where Karen clearly told the SDNP that she was still 
representing Greenhavens as secretary and coordinator in her voluntary 
capacity.  There is an email in November that clearly defines what the objectives 
of Greenhavens is within the partnership bid.  Sadly, it would appear none of 
these have been met.    It is frustrating for all of us that the changes in the 
partnership were not fed to the Committee and it would appear to most of us that 
the previous Chair was acting alone and not for the benefit of the Network.   With 
regard to the relationship issues with SCDA & 3VA I have seen emails from 
February where the relationship issues with SCDA and 3VA were voiced and that 
there would need to be a wider discussion.  Comments received in April when 
the committee and groups saw the partial lottery submission with SCDA now a 
partner were also conveyed to you.  Many groups do see that the involvement of 
SCDA as a betrayal to what they thought was predominantly their 
projects.   Although you may argue the words "take over" are strong, the groups 
have fed back that they feel that the Network won't exist in the same way as they 
will have to work with SCDA to develop their projects which is an organisation 
that they never wanted to work with. The damage that has been caused by SDNP 
dealing directly with the member groups has been felt widespread and the lottery 
projects in its current form threatens to render the Network defunct on various 
levels. There are some groups that have expressed concern that the change of 
partnership were not conducted openly and transparently with the Network.   To 
work in our communities, you need to work with them and understand them, on 
paper your project might look strong but the reality in the community is very 
different.  I'm concerned. I have a timeline of all these emails if you should require 
a copy as they are part of a report we are writing that verifies exactly how events 
have unfolded throughout this process. I'm now concerned that we may also be 
losing Karen as the lynchpin of the Network in her professional role as 
Community Liaison Officer.    This is a massive blow to the Network and whilst 
Karen will still be a part of the Committee in a voluntary role it does diminish the 
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work we can carry out with the groups.   A post would have been extremely 
helpful and was the main aim from the beginning when Karen and Stephen 
approached the lottery initially.  I'm very much hoping that the lottery decision is 
favourable, and we can work together to get the Network back on track and look 
forward to hearing from you with the decision.   Of course if the lottery confirm 
the bid is going ahead we will very much need to hold a partnership meeting to 
discuss the way forward. “ 
 

4.100 On 3 July 2020, the Monitoring Officer emailed Ms Rigby-Faux to inform her 
that her complaint had been assessed and that it would be formally investigated. 

 
4.101 Also, on 3 July 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux received a letter from Idverde detailing 

her redundancy as had been discussed the previous day. This letter showed that 
Andy Frost had written to Idverde on 6 April 2020 to confirm that the Council no 
longer had a need for a Community Liaison Officer as part of their contract with 
Idverde. 

 
4.102 On 9 July 2020, Councillor Carr responded to an email from Councillor 

Saunders questioning why the Council had told Idverde they no longer needed a 
Community Liaison Officer. Councillor Carr stated that the Council was dealing 
with a severe deficit caused by the coronavirus pandemic. She acknowledged 
that the instructions to Idverde had not been as clear as she would have liked, 
but that the Council now had considerably more in-house community support and 
engagement resources than when the contract with Idverde was first drawn up. 
Councillor Carr said that having identified an urgent need for savings within every 
service, the Council had put forward a proposal as to how this work could be 
structured in the future.  

 
4.103 Councillor Saunders replied that the letter to Idverde appeared to have been 

sent at the beginning of April 2020, when the Council had little or no idea of the 
financial crisis it may face from the pandemic. He also pointed out that he was 
unaware of any similar decisions having been made at this time or indeed since. 
He stated that it would be useful to know if any other contractor roles had been 
removed to save money, so directly requested by the Council, to be removed to 
save money. Councillor Saunders said that he presumed the payments to 
Idverde had been reduced to reflect the savings to the Council and asked for 
evidence of this.  

 
4.104 At interview Councillor Saunders told us: ‘I heard that Karen was going to be 

losing her role as Community Liaison Officer, which led me to go back to Julie 
Carr to ask her who had requested it. I was initially led to believe it to be a 
financial decision, which it could well have been, however it happened before 
COVID-19 had had any impact and before the financial impact on the Council 
was known. With all the problems with Stephen, it suggested to me that it may 
not have been a coincidence. As aforementioned I emailed Julie Carr a number 
of times, however got little response but eventually I heard back that it wasn’t her 
decision, but a man named Andy Frost. This confused me as personally I 
believed that making a post redundant should have been a Cabinet decision. I 
found it strange that Andy Frost would take it upon himself to allegedly make a 
cost saving in what I considered quite an important role and particularly as I 
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mentioned above; the financial impact of COVID-19 was unknown. I know that 
Karen and other members of Greenhavens had done a very good job of engaging 
with the public, so it was strange that as a fellow councillor I had not been made 
aware of any changes, or that we (the Council) had actively asked a 
subcontractor to make somebody redundant.  I am certain that Andy Frost did 
not suggest this of his own accord. I don’t think that it was a judgement that he 
would make or instigate. It doesn’t make sense, as to why an officer would make 
that decision to try and make some savings and why have no other officers at 
Lewes District appear to have made similar decisions, towards roles in other 
organisations, which serve the Council. As far as I am aware, there are no other 
roles that have been made redundant and certainly not that early in the COVID 
crisis, because nobody knew where it was going.” 

 
Additional information about Councillor Gauntlett’s alleged conflict 
of interest  

 
4.105 In her complaint, Ms Rigby-Faux referred to the fact that Councillor Gauntlett 

had failed to inform her and the other members of the Greenhavens Committee 
about his interest in two organisations who were later included as partners in the 
Lottery bid. These were:  
 

• The Seaford Community Partnership (‘SCP’), a Community group who 
develop projects in Seaford for the benefit of the community. Councillor 
Gauntlett was on the board of directors. 

 
• ‘3VA’, who support and develop voluntary groups in the Wealden, 

Eastbourne and Lewes districts. Lewes District Council provides funding 
to 3VA (as do Wealden and Eastbourne District Council) and Councillor 
Gauntlett has been appointed by the Council as an observer to its board.  

 
4.106 Ms Rigby-Faux alleged that Councillor Gauntlett’s failure to disclose his interest 

in these two organisations to either the Greenhavens Committee or the SDNPA 
amounted to a breach of the Code. Upon understanding that the requirement 
(under the Council’s Code) to declare such interests only related to certain 
Council meetings, Ms Rigby-Faux still maintained that the Code at least required 
him to ensure that such conflicts were managed; she also felt that Councillor 
Gauntlett should have declared them when attended meetings about the Lottery 
bid with people from the Council, stating: “ [Councillor Gauntlett] failed to declare 
an interest with Seaford Community Partnership (SCP) at the LDC COUNCIL 
meeting with Cllr Julie Carr and Cllr Matthew Bird in autumn 2019 at LDC offices.” 
Ms Rigby-Faux told us: ‘We had numerous meetings about the Lottery bid with 
other councillors and representatives of SDNP where we were making decisions 
about the Lottery bid. The SCP would be getting a substantial amount of money 
from the Lottery bid and I would have expected Councillor Gauntlett to declare 
his interest in SCP. He was acting as a councillor and as Chair of Greenhavens 
in these meetings. I have looked it up and seen that Councillor Gauntlett has 
declared this interest on his Register of Interests. If I was in a meeting where a 
grant application for Greenhavens was being discussed and decided upon I 
would leave the room. Councillor Gauntlett is also involved with an organisation 
called 3VA who were brought into the Lottery bid. He did not declare this interest 
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to Greenhavens either. I understand that he had been appointed as a councillor 
to be an observer on 3VA. The meetings I am talking about were held on Council 
premises and were with Councillor Julie Carr and Councillor Matthew Bird. At 
these meetings I was acting in my voluntary role at Greenhavens. Councillor 
Gauntlett was there as a councillor and as Chair of Greenhavens. Emma from 
SDNP was also at these meetings, which were always about the Lottery bid. To 
my mind these meetings were me and Emma pitching to the councillors to see if 
we could get some time out of my professional day to help her with the Lottery 
bid. It turned out that Emma thought we were pitching to get the District Council 
on board as the landowner and to get them as partners in the bid. I did not really 
understand this as I did not understand what the Council were bringing to the 
table. Whenever we were discussing Greenhavens we were effectively 
discussing one hundred community groups (the groups in the Greenhavens 
Network). Seaford Community Partnership and 3VA are two of these groups, so 
I believe Councillor Gauntlett should have declared this interest. The Seaford 
Partnership had bid for £37,000 from the Lottery bid. The money would go to 
SDNP and then be distributed to the groups that were involved in the partnership. 
SCDA would get the money that Greenhavens had bid for and would then 
manage Greenhavens.’ 
 

4.107 Ms Rigby-Faux alleged that that Councillor Gauntlett’s conflicts of interest were 
exacerbated in January 2020; at which time she believed that he had been 
promised a Cabinet position once his term as Chair had finished if the Lottery bid 
was successful. Ms Rigby-Faux told us it was during this period that Councillor 
Gauntlett’s aims and objectives for the bid seemed to change: “He changed from 
thinking we should consider withdrawing from the Lottery bid to suggesting that 
I should step down from Greenhavens. He then made decisions for Greenhavens 
without telling the Committee or the Community groups what he was doing. I felt 
that some secret deals had been done.’ As evidence, Ms Rigby-Faux pointed to 
the fact that after their initial meeting with councillors in the autumn of 2019, the 
then Leader of the Council had explicitly told Councillors Carr and Bird that they 
need to ensure that they got political capital out of the Lottery bid. Ms Rigby-Faux 
added that she had been told by both Councillors Gauntlett and Saunders that 
Councillor Gauntlett wanted a position in the Cabinet after his term as Chair 
ended. She understood that it had been agreed that should the Lottery bid be 
successful, the Cabinet role held by Councillor Carr would be split into two roles, 
with Councillor Gauntlett taking up a new Cabinet responsibility for parks and 
greenspaces. 

 
4.108 Councillor Saunders confirmed Ms Rigby-Faux’s account, telling us ‘I was made 

aware that the Council had plans to start up a sort of non-profit organisation to 
run the open spaces. I understood this may be SCDA which concerned me, as I 
disagree with their way of operating and working and disagree with them. I was 
also personally concerned, as I knew that Stephen’s [Councillor Gauntlett’s] 
tenure as Chair was coming to an end, but he was openly talking about how he 
was going to become a Cabinet Member18. My concern came from the fact that 
I did not think he would be a positive addition to the Cabinet, or for the Council 
as a whole. It would also cost the Council money (for an additional Cabinet 

 
18 This has been strongly denied by Councillor Gauntlett 
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Member) and at least for me, it seemed like he was manoeuvring things for his 
own benefit; where he could claim personal credit and maintain control. I raised 
questions of his political leader, Councillor James MacCleary, and Councillor 
Julie Carr (whose portfolio included these open spaces). I did not get any useful 
responses, merely political ones.” 
   

4.109 In response to his alleged conflicts of interest, Councillor Gauntlett firstly 
pointed out that he had never tried to hide the fact that he was involved in the 
management of these other organisations; he had properly declared his interest 
in SCP, 3VA and Greenhavens in his Members Register and never failed to 
declare them in any meeting of the Council. In terms of how these interests were 
managed, Councillor Gauntlett said that he always kept a clear separation 
between his various roles; in particular, as Chair of the Council and Chair of 
Greenhavens. Councillor Gauntlett insisted that none of the actions he took as 
Chair of Greenhavens were motivated by his position on the Council and that he 
had played no part in assisting either with their respective Bid applications: “I had 
no involvement whatsoever with their participation in the Lottery Bid. Because of 
an unexpected extension of my tenure as Chair of LDC, I was never able to 
attend any of [SCP’s] Directors meetings due to diary clashes. I have written 
confirmation of this from the Chair of SCP and that the detail of their Bid 
submission was submitted to South Downs NPA, DIRECTLY by [Ms Rigby-Faux] 
herself. Tuning to 3VA, I was not even aware of their part in the Bid until I saw 
the first written draft.” 
 

4.110 Councillor Gauntlett acknowledged that he had spoken with the Leader of the 
Council about what role he might play once his tenure as Chair had ended and 
that he hoped to at some point be offered a Cabinet role. He told us though that 
there had categorically been no promise of a Cabinet position and that there was 
no connection between his future political career and the success or otherwise 
of the Lottery bid. 

 
4.111 Councillor Carr told us that she never had any conversations with Councillor 

Gauntlett about the prospect of him becoming a Cabinet Member and that as far 
as she was concerned the suggestion made in the complaint was highly unlikely: 
“There was some talk that there would be an additional post, but I don’t know the 
details. I have no knowledge of the notion that my Cabinet position would be split 
into two Cabinet roles. I would hope that such an idea would have been 
highlighted to me by my colleagues and I would be very surprised if that had 
been agreed.” 

 
4.112 Councillor Carr also told us that Councillor Gauntlett never tried to use his 

position on the Council to try and improperly influence her. Councillor Carr said 
that she never had any private discussions with Councillor Gauntlett about 
Greenhavens and that if they did meet to discuss the bid, she was clear that 
Councillor Gauntlett was responsible for representing Greenhavens as an 
independent community group: “As far as I am aware, he was always careful 
about managing any conflict of interests in his role as Chair of Lewes District 
Council and Chair of Greenhavens. Councillor Gauntlett is very conscientious, 
and I do not think he would use his position as Chair of either of these 
organisations to advantage the other. That is not in his nature.” 
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4.113 In her complaint, Ms Rigby-Faux summed up her concerns as follows: “It 

became clear that LDC cabinet members (Cllr Julie Carr and Cllr Matthew Bird) 
felt it was their lottery bid and put extraordinary pressure on me via Stephen. The 
behaviour from both Cllr Stephen Gauntlett, Councillor Bird and Councillor Carr 
that ensued was totally appalling and shocking. This was when the relationship 
between myself and Stephen began to break down, having told him I will not be 
bullied by the councillors and that he should step away from the lottery project 
and representing Greenhavens as he was in fact representing LDC in the 
negotiations and was not representing the views of the community members of 
Greenhavens. Up until this point Stephen had told me that Cllr Bird and Cllr Carr 
were telling him that they were unhappy with me, that I worked for them and that 
I should hurry up and write all the projects up for the SDNP. I reported this to my 
company as I felt that it was not appropriate that councillors were trying to direct 
my work particularly in such a pressured, heavy handed way. … Cllr Gauntlets 
continued conflict of interest led to a targeted campaign continually bullying 
myself causing me to have a mini breakdown and severe anxiety making me ill… 
I did indicate to the SDNP that the abuse I had received from both SDNP and 
Stephen meant that I had requested a withdrawal from the lottery project 
[professionally] however I would continue in my volunteer role as secretary to 
represent Greenhavens.  The latter was ignored by both Stephen and the SDNP 
and Stephen continued to act alone on Greenhavens behalf, without any 
consultation with the committee of Greenhavens and its member groups.  It was 
subsequently discovered that he was pushing through the agenda of LDC using 
the name of Greenhavens to achieve his ultimate goal; a promised cabinet 
position. When I discovered what he had agreed on behalf of the network I 
challenged him and the SDNP asking for them to be open and transparent and 
consult with the community.  It was at this point that I was subjected to an 
increased targeted assassination of character that caused me significant stress 
and was detrimental to the relationships I had with various organisations in the 
area.  Even worse was that he was writing to my employers. Totally inappropriate 
for a councillor to be engaging with my employers particularly when this was 
about my volunteer position, outside of work and nothing to do with them. The 
bullying and continued conflict of interest behaviour by Stephen was clearly 
carried out in order for Stephen’s own personal gain, that being to further his 
political career.” [sic] 
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5:    Reasoning as to whether there have been failures to comply 
with the Code of Conduct. 
 

 Capacity 
 
5.1 Before we make a recommendation as to whether Councillor Gauntlett’s conduct 

amounts to a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, we need to decide if he 
was acting as a councillor (i.e. acting in his official capacity) at the relevant time. 
 

5.2 Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 requires all relevant authorities to adopt 
a code of conduct "dealing with the conduct that is expected of members ... when 
they are acting in that capacity" (my emphasis). The Council has reiterated this 
in its own Code. 

 
5.3 The Code therefore does not seek to regulate what members do in their purely 

private and personal lives. The Code only applies to members when conducting 
Council business or when carrying out their constituency work. A distinction must 
be drawn between the individual as a councillor and the individual as an 
individual; a councillor is not a councillor twenty-four hours a day. Conduct that 
might be regarded as reprehensible and even unlawful is not necessarily covered 
by the Code; a link to that person’s membership of their authority is needed. 

 
5.4 In offering our own views on this, we recognise that the Localism Act is vague on 

the key point of what acting in ‘official capacity’ involves. Nor do we have any 
case law arising from the Localism Act to assist us on this. What we do have, 
however, is well established case law from earlier hearings. Whilst the wording 
in the current Code varies slightly from the previous model codes of conduct, 
cases concerning the former model codes remain of relevance as to how 
Councils must interpret what ‘official capacity’ means. 

 
5.5 A restrictive view on ‘capacity’ has been taken in previous decisions by the 

Adjudication Panel for England, the First Tier Tribunal (Local Government 
Standards) and the High Court. In the standards case of “Livingstone v The 
Adjudication Panel for England [2006]” Mr Justice Collins considered the 
question of official capacity. On the facts of that case, Collins J found that Mayor 
Livingstone’s offensive comments to a journalist were not sufficiently connected 
to his position as Mayor as to engage the Code of Conduct, despite them being 
made as he was leaving an official function.  Mr Justice Collins rejected the 
finding of an earlier Tribunal (that Mayor Livingstone’s conduct had brought his 
office into disrepute) on the basis that he was not acting in his official capacity at 
the relevant time: “it is important to maintain the distinction between the man and 
his office, even in the case of high-profile individuals.” 

 
5.6 In APE0458 Sharratt the tribunal agreed, observing: “While they [councillors] 

may always be conscious of their office as councillor and carry out a wide range 
of activities in which that is a factor in their thinking, no reasonable observer 
would conclude that they are carrying out the business of the office of councillor; 
a test which, in the light of the decision in Livingstone, should be narrowly 
construed.” 
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5.7 The Upper Tribunal decision in MC v Standards Committee of the London 
Borough of Richmond [2011] UKUT 232 (AAC) is a helpful distillation of the 
previous High Court cases on capacity. The principles stated in the Richmond 
case are: - 
 

(a) was the councillor, as a matter of ordinary English, actually conducting 
the business of their authority, including the business of the office of 
councillor? 
 
(b) a fact sensitive approach is required to the above; 
 
(c) the question is one for the tribunal to determine, not a 
reasonable     observer. 

 
5.8 The evidence gathered during this investigation has left us with a confused 

picture. On the face of it, Councillor Gauntlett’s role as Chair of the Council was 
wholly separate from his role as Chair of the Greenhavens Network. 
Greenhavens was not a Council-funded organisation and Councillor Gauntlett’s 
position on the Committee was not a Council appointed role. The Council’s 
decision to allow Ms Rigby-Faux to use part of her time as CLO to assist with the 
development of the Network potentially complicated the issue, however by late 
2019 it was clear that Ms Rigby-Faux’s ongoing involvement with Greenhavens 
(as Committee Secretary) was in a voluntary rather than professional capacity.   
 

5.9 Much of Ms Rigby-Faux’s complaint is focused what she alleges was Councillor 
Gauntlett’s misuse of his role as Chair of the Greenhavens Committee and his 
failure to abide by Greenhavens’ constitution. She alleged that Councillor 
Gauntlett failed to declare the necessary interests at their meetings; failed to 
consult with them properly over the lottery bid; sent malicious communications to 
Network members that that maligned her character; and used his position as 
Chair of Greenhavens to benefit other organisations in which he was involved 
(including the Council); potentially with a view to benefiting his own political 
career. Ms Rigby-Faux has also insisted throughout though that the 
Greenhavens Network Group has nothing to do with the Council and conducts 
no Council business. In arguing this point, she seems not to understand that the 
Code of Conduct can only be applied to Councillor Gauntlett’s conduct when he 
is conducting Council business. If Councillor Gauntlett was not conducting 
Council business then he cannot have failed to comply with its Code, regardless 
of what he has done. 
 

5.10 We are our view is that Councillor Gauntlett’s actions as Chair of Greenhavens 
(including when sending emails in that capacity) largely fall outside of the scope 
of the Code of Conduct, and therefore our considerations. When communicating 
with members of the Greenhavens’ Committee and the Network, working 
alongside other Committee members (including Ms Rigby-Faux), chairing 
Greenhaven Committee meetings and representing Greenhavens at meetings 
with other organisations (including when meeting with other councillors19), 

 
19 It should be noted that the meeting held on Council premises involving Councillor Carr, Bird, 
Gauntlett and Ms Rigby-Faux is not classified as a ‘Council meeting’ as defined by the Code, 
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Councillor Gauntlett was acting not in his capacity as councillor, but as Chair of 
the Greenhavens Network. While clearly many with whom he was interacting 
would have known that he was also Chair of the Council, being known as a 
councillor is not sufficient to bring all conduct within the jurisdiction of the Code. 
The overall context (and not simply the alleged behaviour) is determinative, with 
the key determining being ‘was Council business being conducted?’  

 
5.11 That said, as the Lottery bid developed, it is evident that the relationship between 

Greenhavens and the Council became more entwined. While Greenhavens 
might not conduct Council business directly or ever have intended the Lottery bid 
to have developed in the manner that it did, the bid clearly became a multi-
agency proposal that involved both Greenhavens and the Council working on it 
alongside many other organisations. Ms Allen from SDNPA was primarily 
responsible for compiling the necessary information and drafting the application. 
Ms Rigby-Faux was though instructed by Idverde (at Councillor Carr’s request) 
to work alongside Ms Allen on the Lottery bid on behalf of the Council and at 
Council expense20. At the same time, she continued to volunteer for 
Greenhavens as its Committee Secretary and therefore had a key role to play in 
ensuring that it and its members secured what they wanted from the bid.  

 
5.12 The way in which the Lottery bid developed clearly caused potential conflicts of 

interest for both Councillor Gauntlett and Ms Rigby-Faux; how could they do what 
was in the best interest of the Council and what was in the best interest of the 
Greenhaven’s Network if they believed those interests to be different? In 
addition, they potentially had to manage the interests of other relevant 
organisations with which they were involved; for Councillor Gauntlett this was 
3VA and SCP; for Ms Rigby-Faux this was her employer Idverde. For Councillor 
Gauntlett this should have been reasonably straightforward task; he was only 
involved with the Lottery bid because he was Chair of Greenhavens. Had 
Councillor Gauntlett managed to limit his involvement to that role than we think it 
probable that this whole complaint would have fallen outside the jurisdiction of 
the Council’s Code. In our view though he failed to ensure that this was the case. 

 
5.13 The evidence gathered during the investigation demonstrates that as his 

relationship with Ms Rigby-Faux (and, arguably, other members of the Network) 
began to deteriorate, Councillor Gauntlett decided to either use or directly refer 
to his position as Chair of the Council when attempting to directly influence the 
future of the Greenhavens Network and the Lottery bid. On this basis, we are 
satisfied that the following matters fall within the jurisdiction of the Council’s 
Code: 

 
• Councillor Gauntlett’s email of 28 February 2020 to Councillor Carr, in 

which he indicated his willingness to effectively make a complaint about 
Ms Rigby-Faux’s conduct to Mr Frost and request that he in turn contact 
her employer. (See paragraph 4.36) 

 
 

therefore Councillor Gauntlett would not have had an obligation under the Council’s Code of Conduct 
to declare his interests. 
20 She was given four paid working days to liaise directly with the various member organisations of the 
Greenhavens Network to ensure that all their proposals were properly reflected in the Lottery Bid. 
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• Councillor Gauntlett’s email of 29 February 2020 to Ms Rigby-Faux in 
which he said that the Council intended on having formal discussions with 
her employers about her recent behaviour. (Detailed at paragraph 4.39). 

 
• Councillor Gauntlett’s meeting of 11 March 2020 with Ms Rigby-Faux’s 

line manager at Idverde.  (Detailed at paragraph 4.49). 
 
• Councillor Gauntlett’s emails of 3 April (detailed at paragraph 4.62) and 

1 May 2020 (detailed at paragraph 4.76 and 4.77) to numerous parties, 
including councillors and Idverde, in which he: blamed Ms Rigby-Faux for 
the recent resignation of two Committee members; said that he had been 
approached by individuals who wanted to join the Committee but would 
not while Ms Rigby-Faux was acting in such an interventionist manner; 
suggested that Ms Rigby-Faux was putting the Lottery bid  at  jeopardy; 
and questioned whether Ms Rigby-Faux was breaking the terms of her 
furlough. 

  
• Councillor Gauntlett’s email of 27 May 2020 to the Council’s Senior 

Lawyer, in which he sought advice regarding the £1,000 grant he had 
made to the Greenhavens Network in 2019 from the Council Chair’s 
Fund. (Detailed at paragraph 4.88). 

 
• Councillor Gauntlett’s email of 30 May 2020 to Councillor Boniface, in 

which he suggested that Ms Rigby-Faux’s conduct had left him and four 
former Committee members feeling ‘bruised’; and indicated his intention 
to claim back the £1000 grant from Greenhavens if a new Committee was 
formed at their scheduled AGM. (Detailed at paragraph 4.91). 

 
• Councillor Gauntlett’s email of 11 June 2020 to the Council’s Senior 

Lawyer, in which he sought further advice regarding the £1,000 grant and 
about the legitimacy of Greenhaven’s recent AGM. (Detailed at 
paragraph 4.94). 

 
Has Councillor Gauntlett failed to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

 
5.14 The intention of the Code is to ensure that the conduct of public life at local 

government level does not fall below a minimum level which engenders public 
confidence in democracy.  

 
Code requirements 

 
5.15 Paragraph 3(1): Failure to treat others with respect will occur when unreasonable 

or demeaning behaviour is directed by one person against or about another. The 
circumstances in which the behaviour occurred are relevant in assessing 
whether the behaviour is disrespectful. The circumstances include the place 
where the behaviour occurred, who observed the behaviour, the character and 
relationship of the people involved and the behaviour of anyone who prompted 
the alleged disrespect. 
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5.16 Paragraph 3(2)(b): There are many definitions of bullying and harassment and 
both terms are often used interchangeably. The Council’s Code reassuringly 
provides one of the most comprehensive definitions we have seen in any Local 
Government Code of Conduct and is consistent with the definitions we generally 
apply as standard. The definition for bullying that we apply is based on the 
classification provided by ACAS. The definition for harassment that we apply 
reflects the definition set out in Section 26 of the Equality Act 2010.   
 
Bullying may be characterised as offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting 
behaviour involving an abuse or misuse of power that can make a person feel 
vulnerable, upset, undermined, humiliated, denigrated or threatened. Power 
does not always mean being in a position of authority and can include both 
personal strength and the power to coerce through fear or intimidation. Examples 
of bullying may include, but are not limited to: 
 

• Verbal abuse, such as shouting, swearing, threatening, insulting, being 
sarcastic towards, ridiculing or demeaning others, inappropriate 
nicknames or humiliating language. 

• Physical or psychological threats or actions towards an individual or their 
personal property. 

• Practical jokes, initiation ceremonies or rituals. 
• Overbearing or intimidating levels of supervision, including preventing 

someone from undertaking their role or following agreed policies and 
procedures. 

• Inappropriate comments about someone’s performance. 
• Abuse of authority or power, such as placing unreasonable expectations 

on someone in relation to their job, responsibilities or hours of work, or 
coercing someone to meet such expectations. 

• Use of unfair sanctions in relation to disciplinary or attendance 
procedures. 

• Ostracising or excluding someone from meetings, communications, work 
events or socials. 

• Sending, distributing or posting detrimental material about other people, 
including images, in any medium. 

 
Harassment is any unwanted physical, verbal or non-verbal conduct that has the 
purpose or effect of either violating a person’s dignity or creating an intimidating, 
hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for them. Under the 
Equality Act 2010, harassment is related to one or more of the relevant ‘protected 
characteristics’ which include age, sex, race, disability, religion or belief, sexual 
orientation and gender reassignment. Harassment may be persistent or an 
isolated incident. It can also be intentional or unintentional; for example, if a 
person speaks or behaves in a way that they do not find offensive, but that 
another person does, then it can still be harassment – the feelings of the recipient 
are crucial. Examples of harassment (other than sexual harassment), may 
include, but are not limited to: 
 

• Deliberate exclusion from work activity or conversations. 
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• Sending or displaying offensive material in any format (including posters, 
graffiti, emails, messages, clips or images sent by mobile phone or 
posted on the internet). 

• Mocking, mimicking, belittling, or making jokes and comments about a 
person (or a group stereotype) in relation to their age, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation. 

• Use of unacceptable or inappropriate language or stereotypes relating to 
race or ethnicity. 

• Deliberately holding meetings or social events in a location that is not 
accessible for an individual with a disability.  

• Using profanities or swearing that could have the effect of intimidating a 
person. 

 
5.17 Paragraph 6(a): In considering whether a councillor has breached the Code it is 

important to focus on whether they used his position improperly when attempting 
secure an advantage or disadvantage.  There are many circumstances where it 
is proper for a member to attempt to confer a desirable outcome, or advantage, 
for their constituents. A councillor’s conduct would only be improper if he was to 
try to use his public position to further his own private interest (or disadvantage 
a third party for personal reasons) to the detriment of the public interest. 

 
Matters related to the allegation that Councillor Gauntlett failed to treat Ms Rigby-
Faux with respect / bullied and harassed her. 

 
5.18 From the outset it is important that we are clear as to the scope of our 

considerations with regards this matter. Both in her complaint and in her 
comments on the draft report, Ms Rigby-Faux refers to having been “humiliated, 
sworn at, undermined and threatened” by Councillor Gauntlett and others 
because of her work with Greenhavens; and of Councillors Gauntlett, Carr and 
Bird working (with the support of certain officers in the Council) against her 
interests and the interests of the Greenhavens Network and is members.  
 

5.19 Firstly, we were instructed to investigate a complaint against Councillor Gauntlett 
only; the conduct of any other individuals mentioned (including councillors) falls 
outside the scope of our considerations. In addition, many of the exchanges 
between Councillor Gauntlett and Ms Rigby-Faux / members of the Greenhavens 
Network that we reviewed during the investigation were not considered to have 
been sent in his official capacity as a member of the Council. While they have 
been invaluable in helping us understand those matters that we do deem within 
the scope of the standards framework, Councillor Gauntlett’s conduct in these 
emails falls outside our jurisdiction. 
 

5.20 To briefly recap on those exchanges that we do consider within the scope of our 
considerations: at the point Ms Rigby-Faux perceived the Council’s objectives for 
the Lottery bid to differ from those of the Greenhavens Network, she began to 
challenge Councillor Gauntlett’s position as Chair of Greenhavens and suggest 
that he was too conflicted to remain involved in any decision making. In response 
to this and to further disagreements between the two, Councillor Gauntlett: 
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• Sent an email to Councillor Carr in which he reported that Ms Rigby-Faux 
“now appears to want to bite the hand that feeds!” by bad-mouthing the 
Council. He suggested that her conduct be reported to her employer, 
Idverde. 
 

• Sent an email to members of the Greenhavens Committee, Councillors 
Carr and Bird, and Idverde in which he stated that he and others were 
upset with Ms Rigby-Faux’s attitude towards the bid and him personally; 
that she was responsible in part for two recent resignations from the 
Committee; that her interventionist approach was putting off potential 
Committee members from joining; and that her actions were jeopardising 
the Lottery bid. 
 

• Sent an email to members of the Committee, Councillors Carr and Bird, 
Mr Frost, Idverde and others in which he accused Ms Rigby-Faux of taking 
actions that ignored Greenhavens’ Constitution; suggested that she might 
be breaching the terms of her furlough and referred to a statement she had 
made as being ‘extraordinary and despotic’. 

 
• Sent an email to Ms Boniface in which he said that he and four former 

members of the Greenhavens Committee had felt ‘bruised’ by Ms Rigby-
Faux’s treatment of them. 

 
5.21 In considering whether these comments amount to a failure to comply with 

paragraph 3.1 of the Code, a line must be drawn between the requirement for 
members to treat others with respect and the freedom members have to disagree 
with and be critical of the views, opinions and actions of others. It is inevitable 
that members will disagree with other people from time to time. It is our view that 
members should be able to express their concerns in forceful terms. Direct 
language can sometimes be appropriate to ensure that matters are dealt with 
properly. The Code is not intended to stifle the expressions of passion and 
frustration that often accompany discussions about council business.  

 
5.22 Any consideration of Councillor Gauntlett’s comments must also allow for the 

enhanced protection offered to him in Article 10 of Part 1, Schedule 1 to the 
Human Rights Act. We must consider whether any interference or restriction to 
his freedom of expression is prescribed in law and, if so, whether it is necessary 
in a democratic society. (We have provided relevant Case Law on Article 10 in 
Annex A.) 

 
5.23 Applying the provisions of Part 1 of the Localism Act, under which the Council 

has adopted a Code of Conduct, a councillor’s freedom of expression may be 
legally restricted. When considering whether it is necessary, we believe that one 
of the objectives of the Code and the provisions within it (along with the 
imposition of any sanction if a breach is found), is to protect the reputation and 
rights of others, for example, from offensive, abusive, and defamatory remarks. 

 
5.24 When considering whether Councillor Gauntlett’s comments to warrant 

regulatory intervention, we recognise that councillors operate in a political 
environment and must be free to make political points and discuss matters of 
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public concern without undue interference. Councillors must act in the public 
interest and have a duty to undertake a scrutiny role to ensure their Council uses 
its resources properly and in accordance with law. That said, the right to freedom 
of expression is not absolute. It is important that Councillors understand that 
restrictions can be imposed to protect the rights and reputations of others and to 
ensure officers can undertake their tasks without undue disturbance. That said, 
while ideas, policies, recommendations, and advice may be challenged and 
criticised, individuals should not be subject to unreasonable or excessive 
personal attack.  

 
5.25 While we can understand why Ms Rigby-Faux was upset at having her own 

behaviour towards others cited by Councillor Gauntlett as being ‘bruising’ and a 
contributory factor to both resignations from the Committee / making others 
reluctant to join, we do not consider them so offensive as to amount to a breach 
of the Code. It is not necessarily for this investigation to consider the veracity of 
Councillor Gauntlett’s assertions about Ms Rigby-Faux, including that her 
conduct was putting the Lottery bid at risk, if we are satisfied that his criticisms 
of her were made in good faith and rather than being obvious and deliberate 
untruths made solely to malign her. In the context that the comments set out in 
paragraph 5.20 were made (as set out in the report), we are satisfied that this 
was the case.  

 
5.26 In her comments on the report, Ms Rigby-Faux stated “I completely 

fundamentally disagree with the investigator.  Councillor Steven Gauntlet 
deliberately set out to sabotage KRF reputation- the comments he has made and 
the humiliation he has caused cannot be underestimated – to the extent that KRF 
loss of livelihood.  These comments cannot be said to be done in Good Faith 
when Councillor Steven Gauntlet knew all along that the community groups 
would NEVER have agreed to be part of any project involving SCDA.  Councillor 
Steven Gauntlet made it his business to attack KRF when instead he should have 
been open and honest and consulted with his member groups. KRF acted 
professionally and courteously, there is NO evidence to say otherwise. Councillor 
Steven Gauntlet knew that KRF had done nothing wrong, the findings are 
fundamentally wrong as the attacks from Councillor Steven Gauntlet were 
deliberate to undermine the network so that he could give the network to SCDA 
and cover up what he had done.” 

 
5.27 Ms Rigby-Faux suggested that the worst example of Councillor Gauntlett’s 

bullying behaviour was demonstrated by his decision to copy in her employer 
Idverde into some of his critical emails. We will consider this aspect of the 
complaint in more detail below when we consider whether Councillor Gauntlett 
used his position as a councillor improperly to cause either himself an advantage 
or cause a disadvantage to Ms Rigby-Faux / the members of the Greenhavens 
Network. Our recommendation remains though that when considering the 
content of the limited number of emails that we found fell within the jurisdiction of 
this investigation, Councillor Gauntlett be found not to have either bullied or failed 
to treat Ms Rigby-Faux with respect. This finding is in no way intended to 
undermine Ms Rigby-Faux’s lived experience or legitimise any criticisms 
Councillor Gauntlett might have made about her. Ms Rigby-Faux spoke candidly 
about the stress and anxiety she was caused by the events described above, 
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which she told us led to a breakdown in late February 2020. It is evident from the 
email exchanges we were provided that Ms Rigby-Faux already felt bullied and 
harassed by others (including by other councillors) prior to her falling out with 
Councillor Gauntlett. And there is no doubt that the deterioration of her 
relationship with him must have exacerbated the situation.  

 
Matters related to Councillor Gauntlett’s alleged failure to declare or manage his 
various conflicts of interest at meetings of the Greenhavens Network / working 
on the Lottery Bid.  

 
5.28 The investigation has established that in addition to being Chair of the 

Greenhavens Network during the period relevant to this complaint, Councillor 
Gauntlett was also Chair of the Council, a Council observer on the board of 3VA 
and a Director of Seaford Community Partnership. All four of these organisations 
appear to have had a stake in the Lottery bid and yet Ms Rigby-Faux has 
asserted that Councillor Gauntlett consistently failed to declare his various 
allegiances a meetings of the Greenhavens Committee or in meetings with the 
other organisations that they worked with. As stated previously though, the 
Council’s Code of Conduct can only consider allegations that Councillor 
Gauntlett failed to declare the necessary interest at meetings of the Council (as 
opposed to meetings with representatives of the Council); we have seen no 
evidence that this was the case.  
 

5.29 When considering his alleged conflicts of interests more widely, Councillor 
Gauntlett has strongly argued that his various roles never felt conflicted because 
all the organisations with whom he was involved were working towards the same 
goals. Councillor Gauntlett also pointed out that he took advice on the matter 
from the Council’s previous Monitoring Officer and was told that while any 
conflicts would need to be carefully managed if they arose, the possibility of them 
arising did not preclude him from being involved with all the organisations 
referred to above.  

 
5.30 This advice and the roles taken on by Councillor Gauntlett are in our view wholly 

consistent with the intentions of the Localism Act. The Local Government 
Association’s ‘Councillor workbook on neighbourhood and community 
engagement’ describes the changes made in the Act as a welcome opportunity 
for councillors to “reshape their role away from bureaucratically driven, paper-
heavy meetings and processes to much more creative roles leading and 
energising their local communities and encouraging self-organised groups to be 
ambitious.” The Localism Act allows councillors to involve themselves directly 
with volunteer groups and play an active part in local discussions that might on 
occasion cross-over with Council business. In many cases councillors 
themselves will have a long track record of community activism before they were 
elected – their inspiration to serve their local communities will often have its roots 
in community work and the Localism Act wanted to ensure that people can elect 
their councillor confident in the knowledge that they will be able to act on the 
issues they care about and may have campaigned on. 

 
5.31 Ms Rigby-Faux stated in her complaint that Councillor Gauntlett’s conflict of 

interest only became an issue when Councillors Carr and Bird effectively 
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hijacked the Lottery bid and used him to put pressure on her and the 
Greenhavens Network; it was at this point that she told him to “step away from 
the lottery project and representing Greenhavens as he was in fact representing 
LDC in the negotiations and was not representing the views of the community 
members of Greenhavens.” Ms Rigby-Faux alleged that Councillor Gauntlett 
ignored her advice and instead arbitrarily took decisions on behalf of the 
Greenhavens Network without their knowledge or consent that he intended to 
benefit the Council rather than the Network’s members. 

 
5.32 In the first instance, it should be noted that Councillor Gauntlett denies acting 

against the interests of the Greenhavens Network. Regardless, it is evident he 
and Ms Rigby-Faux disagreed as to where the best interests of the Network lay 
and while the Committee (in part due to a lack of other members) was ill equipped 
to resolve these disagreements, Ms Rigby-Faux is adamant that unlike Councillor 
Gauntlett, she never acted alone or did anything without the consent of the 
groups they represented.  

 
5.33 When considering whether Councillor Gauntlett’s actions amount to a failure to 

comply with the Code, we again must stress that only Councillor Gauntlett’s 
actions when conducting Council (rather than Greenhavens) business can be 
considered. Much of Ms Rigby-Faux’s complaint relate to her concerns that 
Councillor Gauntlett used his position as Chair of Greenhavens to improperly 
benefit the Council and the other organisations with which he was involved.  As 
stated previously though, Councillor Gauntlett was never given a formal role by 
the Council in relation to the Lottery bid; Ms Allen was consulting with him on 
matters related to the Lottery Bid not because he was a councillor, but because 
he was Chair of the Greenhavens Network. In our view Ms Rigby-Faux highlights 
several understandable concerns about the way certain decisions were made, in 
particular during the period running up to the submission of the second stage of 
the Lottery bid. These though are almost exclusively internal governance issues 
that needed to be resolved within the Greenhavens Committee.   

 
5.34 That said, there were occasions where we believe that Councillor Gauntlett, by 

his own actions, brought his conduct within the scope of the Code. It is important 
to note though that on those occasions where he was acting in his capacity as a 
councillor, any judgement as to whether he acted properly or improperly must be 
assessed against the public interest; not necessarily what was in the best 
interests of the Greenhavens Network. It is clearly very difficult to objectively 
decide where the public interest lay in this matter. It is relevant though that 
Councillor Gauntlett clearly believed that the actions he took in seeking to 
progress the Lottery bid would bring a clear benefit to the community he 
represented including members of the Greenhaven’s Network. It is also relevant 
that Ms Rigby-Faux’s allegation is that in agreeing to the Lottery bid as it was at 
the second stage of the process, Councillor Gauntlett put the Council’s interest 
before that of Greenhavens. While I can understand Ms Rigby-Faux’s concern 
(given her belief that Councillor Gauntlett should have led the way in ensuring 
that the Lottery bid put the interests of the Greenhavens Network first), we would 
find it very difficult to recommend that a councillor be found to have failed to 
comply with the Code for using their position as a councillor to put the Council’s 
interests first.  
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5.35 That said, there are aspects of Ms Rigby-Faux’s complaint that do accuse 

Councillor Gauntlett of seeking to use his position as a councillor improperly to 
both benefit himself and disadvantage her / members of the Greenhavens 
Network. These include Ms Rigby-Faux’s assertion that Councillor Gauntlett had 
been promised a Cabinet position if the Lottery bid were successful, which would 
have brought him a direct political and financial benefit. And the allegation that 
Councillor Gauntlett used his position as a councillor improperly to damage Ms 
Rigby-Faux’s reputation and prospects, both professionally and as a volunteer 
for Greenhavens.  

 
Did Councillor Gauntlett use or attempt to use his position as a member 
improperly to confer on or secure for himself or any other person, an advantage 
or disadvantage? 

 
5.36 When considering whether a councillor has breached this aspect of the Code it 

is important to focus on whether they attempted to use their position as a 
councillor improperly to secure themselves or another person an advantage or 
disadvantage. There are many circumstances where it is proper for a member to 
act in a way that confers a desirable outcome, or advantage, for their 
constituents. These circumstances might in turn disadvantage others (a 
councillor’s role in making planning decisions is an example). Councillor 
Gauntlett’s conduct would only be considered improper if he sought to try to use 
his public position to further his own private interest or disadvantage a third party 
to the detriment of the public interest. 
 

5.37 Looking first at the allegation that Councillor Gauntlett used his position 
improperly to secure a Cabinet position. Ms Rigby-Faux has alleged that 
Councillor Gauntlett’s political career, specifically a promised position on the 
Council’s Cabinet, was dependent on the success of the Lottery bid. As such, 
when the interests of the Greenhavens Network and the Council diverged and 
Greenhavens threat to simply walk away was considered by some as putting the 
entire Lottery bid in jeopardy, Councillor Gauntlett decided to use his positions 
as both Chair of the Council and Greenhavens to ensure that he got what he 
wanted (a Cabinet position), to the detriment of both the Greenhavens Network 
and Ms Rigby-Faux.  

 
5.38 In our view it would have been inappropriate for Councillor Gauntlett to have 

sought to improperly use his involvement with the Lottery Bid as leverage to 
secure a Cabinet position; as it is, we have seen no compelling evidence to find 
that such a deal was ever made. That is not to say that Councillor Gauntlett might 
not have hoped or even expected to be offered such a role once his term as 
Chair of the Council had ended. It is not unusual for a councillor to seek or 
inadvertently gain personal political advantage through their campaigning 
activity, charity or volunteer work. Such activity can raise their profile within their 
authority, their political party and with the electorate; and this in turn might result 
in a promotion to a Cabinet position. While such a promotion would usually attract 
an increase in personal remuneration, the way a councillor achieved that benefit 
would not necessarily be considered improper unless it could be evidenced that 
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to secure it, they used their position as a councillor in a manner that was contrary 
to the public interest. 

 
5.39 While we may not have compelling evidence to support the allegation that 

Councillor Gauntlett had been driven by the promise of a Cabinet position, we do 
have significant concerns about the way in which he used his position as a 
councillor to improperly influence what had turned into a dispute between and 
primarily Ms Rigby-Faux (though we note her insistence that she was only ever 
acting as a messenger for Greenhavens member organisations) over the future 
of the Greenhavens Network.  
 

5.40 It is undisputed that Councillor Gauntlett, in his capacity of Chair of the Council, 
contacted senior colleagues and Ms Rigby-Faux’s employer on more than one 
occasion to express serious concerns about her conduct, both in relation to her 
work on the Lottery bid and as a Greenhavens Committee member. During this 
period, Councillor Gauntlett also sought advice from the Council’s Senior Lawyer 
on matters related to the Greenhavens Network and suggested to Ms Boniface, 
when discussing the future of the Network, that money previously donated by 
him as Chair of the Council would be withdrawn if he were removed as Chair and 
a new Committee formed in his absence at Greenhavens’ June AGM. 

 
5.41 Councillor Gauntlett initially contacted Councillor Carr to express concerns about 

Ms Rigby-Faux’s conduct on 28 February 2020. He invited Councillor Carr to 
contact Ms Rigby-Faux’s employer to make them aware of these concerns; and 
later agreed to directly hand them evidence of her making derogatory comments 
about the Council on his telephone answerphone.  

 
5.42 When considering whether Councillor Gauntlett’s actions were improper we 

recognise that his motives in raising these concerns have been strongly 
questioned. Ms Rigby-Faux told us that Greenhavens business had nothing to 
do with Council business and her involvement with the Committee no longer had 
anything to do with her role as CLO.  Councillor Gauntlett was effectively using 
his position as a councillor to influence what was an internal dispute within 
Greenhavens (about both their involvement with the Lottery bid and Ms Rigby-
Faux’s contention that Councillor Gauntlett should no longer be involved due to 
his conflict of interest).  

 
5.43 Bearing in mind the circumstances surrounding his email however, on balance 

we are of the view that Councillor Gauntlett’s actions on this occasion were not 
improper. In the days prior to 28 February 2020, Ms Rigby-Faux had made 
several accusations about the Council’s involvement in the Lottery bid; invited 
Committee members to consider withdrawing Greenhavens from the bid; and 
made derogatory comments on Councillor Gauntlett’s answerphone about the 
Council. While it is true that Ms Rigby-Faux was on the Greenhavens Committee 
as a volunteer, she was at this time also being paid by the Council (via Idverde) 
to assist with the Council’s part Lottery bid. While it is not part of our role to 
comment Ms Rigby-Faux actions (though we note that despite this being a clearly 
very difficult time for her, Ms Rigby-Faux herself had recognised she had her own 
conflict  and was already taking action to resolve) we do not consider that 
Councillor Gauntlett’s actions in sending an email which set out his concerns 
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about her conduct to her employer, contract manager and responsible Cabinet 
member amounted to an improper use of his position.  
 

5.44 Having said that, we believe that any justification Councillor Gauntlett might have 
previously had for contacting Ms Rigby-Faux’s employer about matters which 
related to her work with Greenhavens were significantly reduced on 3 March 
2020. At this time, Councillor Gauntlett should have been unequivocally aware 
that Ms Rigby-Faux was no longer working on the Lottery Bid as part of her 
contracted role with the Council. Indeed, this change in circumstance was 
confirmed by Ms Rigby-Faux, when she made a point of stressing that she would 
continue to work on behalf of Greenhavens as a volunteer only.  

 
5.45 The investigation is satisfied that by 3 March 2020, Councillor Gauntlett and Ms 

Rigby-Faux were involved in a disagreement over the future of the Greenhavens 
Network. This continued through until (and beyond) the submission of Ms Rigby-
Faux’s complaint and included the way in which the second stage of the Lottery 
bid was been dealt with and Councillor Gauntlett’s attempts to postpone the 
visioning day / Greenhavens AGM. While some of their exchanges during this 
period fall outside the jurisdiction of the Localism Act (because Councillor 
Gauntlett could not be said to be conducting Council business / acting as a 
councillor), we are satisfied that his emails of 3 April and 1 May 2020 were sent 
in his capacity not only as Chair of Greenhavens, but Chair of the Council (a point 
he stressed at the time).  

 
5.46 In these emails, which Councillor Gauntlett sent not only to Idverde and the 

relevant Councillors / Council officer, but (in the case of the latter) all Cabinet 
Members and representatives from organisations such as SCDA and 3VA, 
Councillor Gauntlett was highly critical Ms Rigby-Faux’s conduct.  This included 
allegations that she had caused the Committee to become dysfunctional; upset 
‘several people’ with her attitude toward them; caused otherwise willing potential 
Committee members to not come forward; put the Lottery bid in jeopardy; and 
acted in contravention to the Greenhavens Constitution. And perhaps of most 
concern, Councillor Gauntlett linked these with his being ‘most concerned about 
the money and the bank account’. Councillor Gauntlett also suggested that by 
her conduct, Ms Rigby-Faux might be breaching the terms of her furlough with 
Idverde. 

 
5.47 It is evident from the emails and their context that Councillor Gauntlett was 

genuinely concerned that actions taken by Greenhavens Committee members 
(against his will) might put the Lottery bid at risk. In those circumstances, it is 
perhaps unsurprising that he was keen to let all relevant parties know that he (as 
Chair of Greenhavens) wanted to ensure the Lottery bid was successful and that 
he was looking at taking steps to ensure that it was not derailed. This though did 
not give him the right to attempt to use his position as a councillor to influence 
what was an internal Greenhavens matter. We are also of the opinion that 
Councillor Gauntlett could easily have demonstrated his personal support for the 
Lottery bid without either being directly critical about Ms Rigby-Faux or invoking 
his position as Chair of the Council.  
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5.48 Based on the evidence we have seen, we are of the view that while Councillor 
Gauntlett clearly held the work Ms Rigby-Faux had done in setting up the 
Greenhavens Network in very high regard, he also (from late February 2020) 
held her personally responsible for recent resignations from the Committee; the 
attempts to stop him being personally involved with the bid due; and for perhaps 
even putting the Lottery bid at risk. In our view by sending the emails of 3 April 
and 1 May 2020, Councillor Gauntlett was attempting to do more than simply 
raise what he viewed as legitimate concerns; he was also seeking to put Ms 
Rigby-Faux under pressure to stop acting in a manner with which he disagreed. 
We are left wholly unconvinced by Councillor Gauntlett’s assertion that he only 
copied Idverde into the email because he was concerned that her actions might 
contravene the terms of her furlough. Ms Rigby-Faux’s involvement with 
Greenhavens was by this time clearly as a volunteer. Even if it been a genuine 
concern about a Council contractor acting improperly, it was wholly inappropriate 
for Councillor Gauntlett to copy in anyone other than those responsible for her 
employment / managing that contract. Rather, we consider it more likely than not 
that Councillor Gauntlett was trying to use his position as Chair of the Council to 
improperly influence the ongoing dispute over the future of Greenhavens / their 
involvement in the Lottery bid. In doing so, we are satisfied that he caused a 
disadvantage to Ms Rigby-Faux, both personally and professionally.21 

 
5.49 We also consider that the evidence supports a finding that Councillor Gauntlett 

again used his position in an attempt to improperly to influence what was 
happening within Greenhavens when, in an email to Ms Boniface (on 30 May 
2020), he said that should the ‘unconstitutional’ AGM go ahead and a ‘second 
Greenhavens’ be formed, he would withdraw the £1000 he had previously 
donated to Greenhavens from his Council Chair’s fund. While Councillor 
Gauntlett had indicated his intention not to stand again as Chair of Greenhavens, 
it is clear from his correspondence that he did not want to be replaced until the 
Lottery bid had been finalised and his term as Chair of the Council finished. Not 
only did Councillor Gauntlett make his ‘threat’ to withdraw the money in an 
attempt to ensure that this did not happen; he made it  despite having been given 
clear advice by the Council’s Senior Lawyer on 27 May 2020 that, as Chair of the 
Council, he could not dictate how this money was used; his donation had been 
issued with no specific conditions attached and so expenditure was now a matter 
for the Greenhavens Committee.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
21 It should be noted that we have no reason to disbelieve Mr Frost’s assertion that the decision to 
remove the CLO position from the Council’s contract with Idverde had nothing to do with any of concerns 
that had been raised about Ms Rigby-Faux’s conduct or been influenced in any way by Councillor 
Gauntlett. We also do not know if his comments had any impact on Idverde’s subsequent decisions. 
Given Councillor Gauntlett’s actions though, it is little wonder that people such as Councillor Saunders 
were led to ask whether the removal of her role was more than just a coincidence.  
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6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 We recommend that Councillor Gauntlett be found to have failed to comply with 

paragraph 6(a) of the Council’s Code because, in emails he sent on 3 April, 1 
May, and 30 May 2020, he sought to improperly use his position as Chair of the 
Council to influence an internal dispute within the Greenhavens Network in a 
manner that advantaged him and disadvantaged Ms Rigby-Faux.  We do not, 
though, recommend that any other aspects of Ms Rigby-Faux’s complaint be 
upheld.  
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ANNEX A:  
 
CASE LAW ON ARTICLE 10   
 
1. Heesom v Public Services Ombudsman for Wales [2014] EWHC 1504 (Admin): 
The High Court recognised that politicians have an enhanced protection in respect of 
political expression, which applies to all levels of politics, including local, and that 
political expression in itself is a broad concept. The Court further held that public 
servants are subject to wider levels of acceptable criticism than other members of the 
public when matters of public concern are being discussed. However, the limits were 
not as wide as they were for elected politicians. The need to protect officers when 
imposing a restriction, in terms of Article 10(2), on freedom of expression must be 
weighed up against a politician’s right to enhanced protection. The Court noted that 
the right to freedom of expression was not absolute but that any restriction was 
required to respond to a ‘pressing social need’, to be for relevant and sufficient 
reasons, and to be proportionate to the legitimate aim being pursued. However, that 
margin must be construed narrowly in this context as there was little scope under 
Article 10(2) for restrictions on political speech or on debate on questions of public 
interest. The Court had further recognised that it was in the public interest that officers 
were not subjected to unwarranted comments that prevented them from performing 
their duties in conditions free from perturbation as this could undermine public 
confidence in the administration. The Court recognised that local government could 
not ‘sensibly function’ without such a mutual bond of trust and confidence.  
 
2. R (Calver) v Adjudication Panel for Wales (2012) EWHC 1172: This case outlined 
the order a Tribunal would require to adopt when considering Article 10, which was 
firstly whether there had been a breach of the Code; secondly, if so, whether the 
finding of a breach and the imposition of a sanction was a limitation of the right to 
freedom of expression afforded by Article 10; and thirdly, if so, whether the restriction 
involved was one that was justified by Article 10(2). The High Court noted that if the 
conduct in question is less egregious , it is more difficult to justify any restriction. The 
Court further noted that ‘political expression’ had to be interpreted widely and it 
included open discussion on political issues including public administration and public 
concern, including comments about the adequacy or inadequacy of the performance 
of public duties by others. It had been held that there was no distinction between 
political discussion and discussion of matters of public concern. In making 
observations about the general purpose of a Code that proscribed conduct, the High 
Court noted that a Code could seek to maintain standards and to ensure that the 
conduct of public life at the local government level, including political debate, does not 
fall below a minimum level so as to maintain public confidence in local democracy.  
 
3. Guja v Moldova (2011) 53 EHRR 16: The European Court of Human Rights 
(EHRR) found that the signalling or disclosure of wrongdoing by an officer should be 
made in the first place to the individual’s superior or other competent authority or body 
and that the question of whether there was any other effective means of remedying 
the wrongdoing should be considered before information was disclosed in public. The 
EHRR further found that the public interest in particular information could sometimes 
be as strong as to override even a legally imposed duty of confidence.  
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4. Lombardo v Malta (2009) 48 EHRR 23: The EHRR stated that a very narrow 
margin of appreciation must be afforded to competent national authorities to restrict 
discussions on matters of public interest. Comments in the political context, which 
amount to value judgements, are tolerated even if untrue, as long as they have some 
or any factual basis. Even a statement of fact will be tolerated if what was expressed 
was said in good faith and there is some reasonable (even if incorrect) factual basis 
for saying it. The Court noted it did not matter whether the restriction was imposed by 
civil or criminal proceedings when determining whether interference with the freedom 
of expression was proportionate to the aim pursued and was necessary in a 
democratic society.  
 
5. Mamere v France (2009) 49 EHRR 39: The EHRR noted that individuals taking 
part in public debates on matters of general concern must not overstep certain limits, 
particularly with regard to respect of the reputation and rights of others, a degree of 
exaggeration or even provocation is permitted. The requirement to protect civil 
servants had to be weighed against the interests of freedom of the press or of open 
discussion on matters of public concern. In a political context, a degree of the 
immoderate, offensive, shocking, disturbing, exaggerated, provocative, polemical, 
colourful, emotive, non-rational and aggressive, that would not be acceptable outside 
that context, is tolerated. The Court noted that Article 10 protects all modes of 
expression but that the means of disseminating information can be of significance in 
determining whether measures taken by a competent authority to restrict freedom of 
expression were proportionate to the legitimate aim being pursued.  
 
6. Busuioc v Moldova (2006) 42 EHRR 14: Even if comments are made as part of a 
debate on an issue of public interest, there are limits to the right to freedom of 
expression where an individual’s reputation is at stake.  
 
7. Livingstone v Adjudication Panel for England (2006) EWHC 2533: The High 
Court notes that restraints imposed by a code of conduct designed to uphold proper 
standards in public life are in principle likely to fall within Article 10(2) ECHR but such 
restraints should not extend beyond what is necessary to maintain those standards. 
The Court noted that interference with the right of free speech which impedes political 
debate must be subjected to particularly close scrutiny but that simply indulging in 
offensive behaviour was not to be regarded as expressing a political opinion, which 
attracts the enhanced level of protection.  
 
8. Pederson v Denmark (2004) 42 EHRR 24: The EHRR recognised that there can 
be a conflict between the right to impart information and the protection of the rights 
and reputation of others. In determining whether a restriction on freedom of expression 
was legitimate, consideration should be given to whether or not there were sufficient 
other opportunities for person imparting the information to achieve his or her objective. 
 
9. Janowski v Poland (1999) 29 EHRR 705: The EHRR considered rights of public 
servants and their entitlement to protection but noted they are subject to the wider 
limits of acceptable criticism, meaning such criticism could be harsh or expressed in 
strong form. Public servants can expect criticism at higher level than the public but not 
quite the same level as politicians. They did not knowingly lay themselves open to 
close scrutiny of their every word and deed to the extent to which politicians do and 
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should not, therefore, be treated on an equal footing with the latter when it comes to 
criticism of their actions. The Court noted that civil servants can expect protection if 
there is a pressing social need. Any such protection must also be proportionate to the 
legitimate aim being pursued and be relevant and sufficient. Civil Servants must enjoy 
public confidence in conditions free from undue perturbation if they are to be 
successful in performing their tasks and it may therefore prove necessary to protect 
them from offensive and abusive verbal attacks.  
 
10. Thorgeirson v Iceland (1992) 14 EHRR 843: The EHRR noted that freedom of 
expression was not just applicable to information and ideas that were favourably 
received or regarded as inoffensive or as a matter of indifference, but also to those 
which shock, offend or disturb. The Court observed that there was no distinction 
between political discussion and discussion on matters of public concern 
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PART 5 

CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

 Page 
 
Code of Conduct of Members of the Council L1 
(including Guidance for Members on the Code of Conduct and its  
interpretation) 
 
Register of Interests of Members and Co-opted Members of the Council M1 
 
Officers’ Code of Conduct N1 
 
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations O1 
 
Protocol on Key Decisions  P1 
 
  

APPENDIX 2
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Part 5 

On their election or co-option to the Lewes District Council, members are 
required to sign an undertaking to comply with the authority’s Code of 
Conduct. 
 
The Code of Conduct, adopted by the authority on 19 July 2012 is set out 
below. It is made under Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011 and includes, as 
standing orders made under Chapter 7 of that Act and Schedule 12 of the 
Local Government Act 1972, provisions which require members to leave 
meetings in appropriate circumstances, while matters in which they have a 
personal interest are being considered. 
 

PART 1 

Code of Conduct of Members of the Council – General 
Provisions 

1 Introduction and Interpretation 

(1) The Code applies to you as a member of the authority, when 
acting in that capacity. 

 
(2) This Code is based upon seven principles fundamental to public 

service, which are set out in Appendix 1. You should have 
regard to these principles, they will help you to comply with the 
Code. 

 
(3) If you need guidance on any matter under this Code you should 

seek it from the authority’s monitoring officer or your own legal 
adviser – but it is entirely your responsibility to comply with the 
provisions of this Code. 

 
(4) It is a criminal offence to fail to notify the authority’s monitoring 

officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest, to take part in 
discussions or votes at meetings, or to take a decision where 
you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, without reasonable 
excuse. It is also an offence to knowingly or recklessly provide 
false or misleading information to the authority’s monitoring 
officer. 

 
(5) Any written allegation received by the authority that you have 

failed to comply with this Code will be dealt with by the authority 
under the arrangements which it has adopted for such purposes. 
If it is found that you have failed to comply with the Code, the 
authority has the right to have regard to this failure in deciding –  

 
(a) whether to take action in relation to you, and 

 
(b) what action to take. 
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(6) Councillors must comply with any reasonable request by the 

Monitoring Officer, the Deputy Monitoring Officer or an 
investigating officer appointed by them, regarding the provision 
of information in relation to a complaint that alleges a breach of 
the Code of Conduct, and must comply with any formal 
standards investigation. 

 
(7) Councillors must not misuse the standards process by, for 

example, making trivial or malicious allegations against another 
councillor. 

 
(8) In this Code – 

 
“authority” means Lewes District Council 

 
“Code” means this Code of Conduct 
 
“co-opted member” means a person who is not a member of the 
authority but who –  

 
(a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the 

authority; or 
 

(b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint 
committee or joint sub-committee of the authority. 

 
and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be 
decided at any meetings of that committee or sub-committee. 

 
“meeting” means any meeting of 

 
(a) the authority; 

 
(b) the executive of the authority; 

 
(c) any of the authority’s or its executive’s committees, sub-

committees, joint committees, joint sub-committees, or 
area committees. 

 
“member” includes a co-opted member. 

 
“register of members’ interests” means the authority’s register of 
members’ pecuniary and other interests established and 
maintained by the authority’s monitoring officer under section 29 
of the Localism Act 2011. 
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2 Scope 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), you must comply with 
this Code whenever you –  

 
(a) conduct the business of your authority (which, in this 

Code, includes the business of the office to which you are 
elected or appointed); or 

 
(b) act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as 

a representative of your authority. 
 

and references to your official capacity are construed 
accordingly. 

 
(2) this Code does not have effect in relation to your conduct other 

than where it is in your official capacity. 
 

(3) Where you act as a representative of your authority –  
 

(a) on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for 
that other authority, comply with that other authority’s 
code of conduct; or 

(b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other 
body, comply with your authority’s code of conduct, 
except and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful 
obligations to which that other body may be subject. 

 

3 General Obligations 

(1) You must treat others with respect. 
 

(2) You must not –  
 

(a) do anything which may cause your authority to breach 
any of its equality duties (in particular set out in the 
Equality Act 2010); 

 
(b) bully or harass any person;  
 

(Bullying means offensive, intimidating, malicious or 
insulting behaviour, or an abuse or misuse of power 
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or 
injure the recipient. 
 
Harassment means unwanted conduct which has the 
purpose or effect of violating an individual’s dignity or 
creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or 
offensive environment for an individual. 
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For examples of conduct that constitute bullying or 
harassment, see Appendix 2.) 

 
(c) intimidate or improperly influence or attempt to intimidate 

or improperly influence any person who is or is likely to 
be– 

 
(i) a complainant; 

 
(ii) a witness; or 

 
(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation 

or proceedings, in relation to an allegation that a 
member (including yourself) has failed to comply 
with his or her authority’s code of conduct; or 

 
(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to 

compromise the impartiality of those who work for, or on 
behalf of, your authority. 

 
4 You must not –  
 

(a) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 
information acquired by you which you believe, or ought 
reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature, except 
where: 

 
(i) you have the consent of the person authorised to give it; 

 
(ii) you are required by law to do so; 

 
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional advice provided that the third party 
agrees not to disclose the information to any other 
person; or 

 
(iv) the disclosure is –  

 
(a) reasonable and in the public interest; and 
 
(b) made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the authority; or 
 

(b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to 
which that person is entitled by law. 

 
5 You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be 

regarded as bringing your office or authority into disrepute. 
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6 You – 
 

(a) must not use or attempt to use your position as a member 
improperly to confer on or secure for yourself or any other 
person, an advantage or disadvantage; 

 
(b) must, when using or authorising the use by others of the 

resources of your authority –  
 

(i) act in accordance with your authority’s reasonable 
requirements; 

 
(ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for 

political purposes (including party political purposes); and 
 

(c) must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of 
Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986. 

 
7 (1) When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard 
to   any relevant advice provided to you by –  
 

(a) your authority’s chief finance officer; or 
 

(b) your authority’s’ monitoring officer; 
 

where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her statutory 
duties. 

 
(2) You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any 

statutory requirements and any reasonable additional 
requirements imposed by your authority. 
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Part 2 

INTERESTS 

8 Personal Interests 

(1) The interests described in paragraphs 8(3) and 8(5) are your 
personal interests and the interests in paragraph 8(5) are your 
pecuniary interests which are disclosable pecuniary interests as 
defined by section 30 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
(2) If you fail to observe Parts 2 and 3 of the Code in relation to your 

personal interests –  
 

(a) the authority may deal with the matter as mentioned in 
paragraph 1(5) and  

 
(b) if the failure relates to a disclosable pecuniary interest, 

you may also become subject to criminal proceedings as 
mentioned in paragraph 1(4). 

 
(3) You have a personal interest in any business of your authority 

where either –  
 

(a) it relates to or is likely to affect –  
 

(i) any body of which you are a member or in the 
position of general control or management and to 
which you are appointed or nominated by your 
authority; 

 
(ii) any body –  

 
(a) exercising functions of a public nature; 

 
(b) directed to charitable purposes; or 

 
(c) one of whose principal purposes includes 

the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union), 

 
of which you are a member or are in a position of 
general control or management; 

 
(iii) the interests of any person from whom you have 

received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 
value of at least £50; or 

 
(b) a decision in relation to that business might reasonably 

be regarded as affecting your well-being or financial 
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position or the well-being or financial position of a 
relevant person to a greater extent than the majority of (in 
the case of authorities with electoral divisions or wards) 
other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
electoral division or ward, as the case may be, affected 
by the decision; 

 
(4) In sub-paragraph (3)(b), a relevant person is –  

 
(a) a member of your family or a close associate; or 

 
(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such 

persons, any firm in which they are a partner, or any 
company of which they are directors; 

 
(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a 

beneficial interest in a class of securities exceeding the 
nominal value of £25,000; or 

 
(d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph (3)(a)(i) or 

(ii). 
 

(5) Subject to sub-paragraph (6), you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest as defined by section 30 of the Localism Act 2011 in any 
business of your authority where (i) you or (ii) your partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you 
are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners) has any interest within the 
following descriptions: 

 

Interest Description 
 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession 
or vocation 
 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship 
 

Any payment or provision of any other financial 
benefit (other than from the relevant authority) made 
or provided within the relevant period in respect of 
any expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as 
a member, or towards the election expenses of M. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union 
and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts 
 

Any contract which is made between the relevant 
person (or a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest) and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided 
or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
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Interest Description 
 

Land 
 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the 
area of the relevant authority. 
 

Licences 
 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy 
land in the area of the relevant authority for a month 
or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies 
 

Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest. 
 

Securities 
 

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body 
where— 
(a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; 
and 
(b) either— 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than 
one class, the total nominal value of the shares of 
any one class in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 
These descriptions on interests are subject to the following definitions: 
 
”body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in 
which the relevant person is a partner, or a body corporate of which the 
relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest; 
 
“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial 
and provident society; 
 
“land” includes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which 
does not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with 
another) to occupy the land or to receive income; 
 
”M” means the person M referred to in section 30 of the Localism Act 2011; 
 
“member” includes a co-opted member; 
 
“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member; 
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”relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which 
M gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) of the Localism Act 
2011; 
 
”relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) 
of the Localism Act 2011; 

 
”securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, 
units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other 
than money deposited with a building society. 
 

(6) In sub-paragraph (5), any interest which your partner may have 
is only treated as your interest if you are aware that your partner 
has the interest. 

 

9 Disclosure of Personal Interests (See also Part 3) 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (5), where you have a personal 
interest in any business of your authority and you attend a 
meeting of your authority at which any matter relating to the 
business is considered, you must disclose to that meeting the 
existence and nature of that interest at the commencement of 
that consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent. 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) only applies where you are aware or ought 

reasonably to be aware of the existence of the personal interest. 
 

(3) Where you have a personal interest but, by virtue of paragraph 
14, sensitive information relating to it is not registered in your 
authority’s register of members’ interests, you must indicate to 
the meeting that you have a personal interest and, if also 
applicable, that it is a disclosable pecuniary interest, but need 
not disclose the sensitive information to the meeting. 

 
(4) Subject to paragraph 12(1)(b), where you have a personal 

interest in any business of your authority and you have made an 
executive decision on any matter in relation to that business, 
you must ensure that any written statement of that decision 
records the existence and nature of that interest. 

 
(5) In this paragraph, “executive decision” is to be construed in 

accordance with any regulations made by the Secretary of State 
under section 22 of the Local Government Act 2000. 

 

10 Prejudicial Interest Generally 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where you have a personal 
interest in any business of your authority you also have a 
prejudicial interest in that business where either –  
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(a) the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest as 

described in paragraph 8(5); or 
 

(b) the interest is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard 
as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your 
judgement of the public interest. 

 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), you do not have a 

prejudicial interest in any business of the authority where that 
business –  

 
(a) does not affect your financial position or the financial 

position of a person or body described in paragraph 8; 
 

(b) does not relate to the determining of any approval, 
consent, licence, permission or registration in relation to 
you or any person or body described in paragraph 8; or 

 
(c) relates to the functions of your authority in respect of –  

 
(i) housing, where you are a tenant of your authority 

provided that those functions do not relate 
particularly to your tenancy or lease; 

 
(ii) school meals or school transport and travelling 

expenses, where you are a parent or guardian of a 
child in full time education, or are a parent 
governor of a school, unless it relates particularly 
to the school which the child attends; 

 
(iii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social 

Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, 
where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the 
receipt of, such pay; 

 
(iv) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to 

members; 
 

(v) any ceremonial honour given to members; and 
 

(vi) setting council tax or a precept under the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 
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11 Interests Arising in Relation to Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees 

You also have a personal interest in any business before an overview 
and scrutiny committee of your authority (or of a sub-committee of such 
a committee) where –  

 
(a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented 

or not) or action taken by your authority’s executive or another of 
your authority’s committees, sub-committees, joint committees 
or joint sub-committees; and 

 
(b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you 

were a member of the executive, committee, sub-committee, 
joint committee or joint sub-committee mentioned in paragraph 
(a) and you were present when that decision was made or 
action was taken. 

 

12 Effect of Prejudicial Interests on Participation 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and (3), where you have a 
prejudicial interest in any matter in relation to the business of 
your authority –  

 
(a) you must not participate, or participate further, in any 

discussion of the matter at any meeting, or participate in 
any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the 
meeting and must withdraw from the room or chamber 
where the meeting considering the matter is being held –  

 
(i) in a case where sub-paragraph (2) applies, 

immediately after making representations, 
answering questions or giving evidence; 

 
(ii) in any other case, whenever it becomes apparent 

that the matter is being considered at that meeting; 
 

unless you have obtained a dispensation from your 
authority’s monitoring officer or standards committee; 

 
(b) you must not exercise executive functions in relation to 

that matter; and 
 

(c) you must not seek improperly to influence a decision 
about that matter. 

 
(2) Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your 

authority which is not a disclosable pecuniary interest as 
described in paragraph 8(5), you may attend a meeting 
(including a meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee of 
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your authority or of a sub-committee of such a committee) but 
only for the purpose of making representations, answering 
questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided 
that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the 
same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise. 

 
(3) Where you have a prejudicial interest which is not a disclosable 

pecuniary interest as described in paragraph 8(5), arising solely 
from membership of any body described 8(3)(a)(i) or 
8(3)(a)(ii)(a) then you do not have to withdraw from the room or 
chamber and may make representations to the committee but 
may not participate in the vote. 
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Part 3 

REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 

13 Registration of members’ interests 

(1) Subject to paragraph 14, you must, within 28 days of –  
 

(a) this Code being adopted by the authority; or 
 

(b) your election or appointment to office (where that is later), 
register in the register of members’ interests details of –  

 
(i) your personal interests where they fall within a 

category mentioned in paragraph 8(3)(a) and 
 

(ii) your personal interests which are also disclosable 
pecuniary interests where they fall within a 
category mentioned in paragraph 8(5) 

 
by providing written notification to your authority’s 
monitoring officer. 

 
(2) Subject to paragraph 14, you must, within 28 days of becoming 

aware of any new personal interest falling within sub-paragraphs 
(1)(b)(i) or (1)(b)(ii) or any change to any personal interest 
registered under sub-paragraphs (1)(b)(i) or (1)(b)(ii), register 
details of that new personal interest or change by providing 
written notification to your authority’s monitoring officer. 

 

14 Sensitive Information 

(1) Where you consider that the information relating to any of your 
personal interests is sensitive information, and your authority’s 
monitoring officer agrees, the monitoring officer shall not include 
details of the interest on any copies of the register of members’ 
interests which are made available for inspection or any 
published version of the register, but may include a statement 
that you have an interest, the details of which are withheld under 
this paragraph. 

 
(2) You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of 

circumstances which means that information excluded under 
paragraph (1) is no longer sensitive information, notify your 
authority’s monitoring officer asking that the information be 
included in the register of members’ interests. 

 
(3) In this Code, “sensitive information” means information, the 

details of which, if disclosed, could lead to you or a person 
connected with you being subject to violence or intimidation.   

Page 74



L15 
 

15 Dispensations 

(1) The Audit and Standards committee, or any sub-committee of 
the Audit and Standards committee, or the monitoring officer 
may, on a written request made to the monitoring officer of the 
authority by a member, grant a dispensation relieving the 
member from either or both of the restrictions in paragraph 
12(1)(a) (restrictions on participating in discussions and in 
voting), in cases described in the dispensation. 

 
(2) A dispensation may be granted only if, after having had regard 

to all relevant circumstances, the Audit and Standards 
committee, its sub-committee, or the monitoring officer - 

 
(a) considers that without the dispensation the number of 

persons prohibited by paragraph 12 from participating in 
any particular business would be so great a proportion of 
the body transacting the business as to impede the 
transaction of the business; 

 
(b) considers that without the dispensation the representation 

of different political groups on the body transacting any 
particular business would be so upset as to alter the likely 
outcome of any vote relating to the business; 

 
(c) considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests 

of persons living in the authority’s area; 
 

(d) if it is an authority to which Part 1A of the Local 
Government Act 2000 applies and is operating executive 
arrangements, considers that without the dispensation 
each member of the authority’s executive would be 
prohibited by paragraph 12 from participating in any 
particular business to be transacted by the authority’s 
executive; or 

 
(e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 

dispensation. 
 

(3) A dispensation must specify the period for which it has effect, 
and the period specified may not exceed four years. 

 
(4) Paragraph 12 does not apply in relation to anything done for the 

purpose of deciding whether to grant a dispensation under this 
paragraph. 
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Note from Monitoring Officer:  Councillors are reminded that quite apart 
from the Code of Conduct, section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 restricts the rights of Councillors who are two months or more in arrears 
with their council tax payments.  Any such member must disclose the fact and 
must not vote at any meeting on decisions being taken which might affect the 
level of the council tax or the arrangements for administering it.  Failure to 
comply is a criminal offence. 
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Appendix 1 
 

CODE OF CONDUCT OF MEMBERS  

As a member or co-opted member of Lewes District Council I have a 
responsibility to represent the community and work constructively with our 
staff and partner organisations to secure better social, economic and 
environmental outcomes for all. 
 
In accordance with the Localism Act provisions, when acting in this capacity I 
am committed to behaving in a manner that is consistent with the following 
principles to achieve best value for our residents and maintain public 
confidence in this authority.  
 

The Seven Principles of Public Life 

Selflessness 

1 Members should act solely in terms of the public interest. 
 
Integrity 

2 Members must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them 
in their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain 
financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their 
friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 

 
Objectivity 

3 Members must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 
Accountability 

4 Members are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

 
Openness 

5 Members should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless 
there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 
Honesty  

6 Members should be truthful. 
 
Leadership 

7 Members should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be 
willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 
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Appendix 2 
 

Non-exhaustive Examples of Bullying and Harassment 

 
With reference to paragraph 3(2)(b) of this Code –  
 
(1) Examples of bullying behaviour include, without limitation: 

 

• spreading malicious rumours, or insulting someone by word or 
behaviour 

• copying memos that are critical about someone to others who do 
not need to know 

• ridiculing or demeaning someone – picking on them or setting them 
up to fail 

• exclusion or victimisation 

• unfair treatment 

• overbearing supervision or other misuse of power or position 

• unwelcome sexual advances – touching, standing too close, 
display of offensive materials, asking for sexual favours, making 
decision on the basis of sexual advances being accepted or 
rejected. 

• making threats or comments about job security without foundation 

• deliberately undermining a competent worker by overloading or 
constant criticism 

• preventing individuals progressing by intentionally blocking 
promotion or training opportunities 

• invading someone’s personal space 

• speaking to someone in an overbearing manner 

• using aggressive body language 

• undermining or belittling someone 

• any of the behaviours listed above, occurring on a single, repeated 
or habitual basis 
 

(2) Examples of harassment include, without limitation: 
 

• making abusive, derogatory, patronising, suggestive or sexualised 
comments or sounds 

• making jokes or insulting gestures or facial expressions 

• ridicule 

• offensive e-mails, tweets or comments on social networking sites 

• trolling via social networking sites 

• threats of aggression or intimidation 

• making false and malicious assertions 

• intrusive questioning about private matters 

• display of offensive material 

• unwanted comments on dress or appearance 

• any of the behaviours listed above, occurring on a single, repeated 
or habitual basis. 
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Cllr Matthew Bird <matthew.bird@lewes.gov.uk> 

To: Stephen Gauntlett <sj.gauntlett@btinternet.com>, Emma Allen <emma.allen@southdowns.gov.uk> 

Cc: Green Havens <greenhavens@yahoo.com>, James Winkworth <james.winkworth@southdowns.gov.uk>, 

penny@sussexcommunity.org.uk <penny@sussexcommunity.org.uk>, Adam 

Chugg <adam.chugg@3va.org.uk>, Cllr Julie Carr <julie.carr@lewes.gov.uk>more… 

Dear Stephen 

  

It’s regrettable that despite several interventions and attempts to bring Karen on board with 
what has been for the most part a positive and inclusive process that the need has arisen for 
emails such as the ones below. 

  

One of the priorities from an LDC point of view was to facilitate as much as possible a 
partnership approach and I think the strength of that partnership is plain to see in what 
Emma has put together. It is a testament to the hard work that Emma has put into this bid in 
such difficult circumstances. 

  

Obviously the priority is to get the bid in. If there is anything you need me to do that helps 
this let me know. 

I think we will need to discuss the matters outlined below at a later date and I’ll also discuss 
with Julie, Zoe and Andy Frost.  

  

Just to say though I’m fully supportive of the approach you and Emma have taken and sorry 
that you’ve had to take such personal criticism in the course of what should be a positive 
experience for everyone. It’s totally unacceptable. 

  

Matthew 

Councillor Matthew Bird 

Cabinet Member for Sustainability 

  

District Councillor for Priory Ward 
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 From: Stephen Gauntlett <sj.gauntlett@btinternet.com>  
Sent: 03 April 2020 13:44 
To: Emma Allen <Emma.Allen@southdowns.gov.uk> 
Cc: Green Havens <greenhavens@yahoo.com>; James Winkworth 
<James.Winkworth@southdowns.gov.uk>; penny@sussexcommunity.org.uk; Adam Chugg 
<adam.chugg@3va.org.uk>; Cllr Julie Carr <Julie.Carr@lewes.gov.uk>; Cllr Matthew Bird 
<Matthew.Bird@lewes.gov.uk>; m tavener <mtavener@gburley.co.uk> 
Subject: Re: lottery 

  

Dear All 

I need to echo what Emma has said. I have had discussions this morning with several people 

who feel most upset with the attitude Karen is taking towards this bid and towards me 

personally. 

 As Chair of Greenhavens I am clear that there is no time for further amendments. The 

Committee is presently dysfunctional due to two overnight resignations caused in part by 

Karen’s recent interventions. After the bid is submitted I will meet with the other partners to 

consider how best to regroup the Greenhavens Network. For example, I have been contacted 

by individuals who are immediately willing to join the Committee but not with Karen 

exercising her present interventionist role. 

I have copied the Chief Execs of  SCDA and 3VA because I am not prepared to see this first 

class bid jeopardised, together with the LDC Cabinet Members. Because I’m not sure 

how all this relates to Karen’s present Furlough from Ideverdi, I am copying them for 

information. 

This is a fundamental and critical bid and I write this wearing both my Lewes District 

Council Chair and Greenhavens Chair hats. 

  

Stephen 

Cllr Stephen Gauntlett 
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On 3 Apr 2020, at 12:47, Emma Allen <Emma.Allen@southdowns.gov.uk> wrote: 

Hi Karen,  

This lottery bid needs to be submitted in the next 48 hours. If development funding is 
secured, we can sort out any niggling errors directly with the projects involved. 

The community noticeboard for the Dell is in the information you sent me. If things have 
subsequently changed, fine, but that has not been communicated to me.  
 

As I have told you MANY times the delivery posts will be established in the development 
phase in order to best support the delivery work. There will obviously need to be a role to 
support the delivery of the Greenhavens elements – but whether that post can be hosted by 
Greenhavens relies on Greenhavens being an entity that is in a position to host staff. This is 
something that I have been informed is not the case at present. 

 

The information on who set up Greenhavens was given to me by SCDA. If you feel that it is 
incorrect, please discuss with Stephen and Penny Shimmin. 

I have done my level best to make sense of the information you have sent me, much of 
which was quite incoherent, and to bring it together in a compelling way in very trying 
circumstances. Everyone else is happy with it, including your Chair. 
 

I have worked the last 17 days straight on this project, whilst effectively neglecting [other 
duties].   

Your thoroughly unpleasant attitude towards me and the other people involved in this project 
is making me ill. I respectfully ask that you now stop contacting me both professionally and 
personally.  

  

Emma 

Emma Allen MINSTF 

Statutory Funding Officer 

South Downs National Park Authority 

Please note I work part-time: Monday – Wednesday 9-5 and Thursday 9-11.30. 

 

 

South Downs Centre, North Street, Midhurst, West Sussex, GU29 9DH 

www.southdowns.gov.uk | facebook | twitter | youtube 
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From: Green Havens <greenhavens@yahoo.com> 
Sent: 03 April 2020 12:21 
To: Emma Allen <Emma.Allen@southdowns.gov.uk> 
Subject: lottery 

Dear Emma 

I have now seen site of the lottery application and am concerned that there 
are  some mistakes in regards to all the projects i have given you and there are 
some that arent listed? 

I am also concerned that there are also significant changes to the projects that 
weren't agree with greenhaven member groups and that the network no longer has a 
post within it to support the running of it, which for the network was the over riding 
reason we wanted to access funding. 

There are also some fundamental errors in the introduction  in regards to who 
started the network and who subsequently supported it.  

The greenhavens committee has not approved this application, we only saw sight of 
it yesterday morning. With there being such fundamental changes to the original 
concept, i really need to consult with the community groups as this isnt what the 
committee consulted with the groups on. 

For starters her are the Peacehaven corrections: The Dell. It says that local people 
will be involved in planting the seeds but that isn't the plan. There is one small area 
to be planted with wild flower plug plants that Jan has agreed to plant up with 
schoolchildren and she is going to fund that bit. The Community noticeboard in the 
Dell was rejected by cllrs. 

  

regards 

karen 

Secretary, Greenhavens Network 

   

Raise Money For Greenhavens and have your chance of winning £25,000. You will be helping us 

with much needed funds to develop the network and support our community groups 

https://www.leweslocallottery.co.uk/.../greenhavens-network 

Please note that Greenhavens Network is a non-political organisation and is a formation of groups with 

views on green spaces and the environment. These views are particular to each member group and may 

not necessarily be supported by all member groups. Formal statements will be issued by the Secretary 

when appropriate. 
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 Stephen Gauntlett <sj.gauntlett@btinternet.com> 

To:Green Havens 

Cc:Judy Pepper,Lizzie Hornsbury 

Fri, 1 May at 13:05 

Karen 

Judy was NOT “taken on by you”. I find your statement extraordinary and despotic as I do your illegitimate 

“Help Shape our Future” email. 

I have contacted your employer as I received 3 calls within 15 minutes of that email asking me “is this the Karen 

from Burleys?” 

Once again, you have sent out emails of which I had no prior knowledge and I will respond in due course. 

Stephen 

 Stephen Gauntlett 

0793 2806770 

 

On 1 May 2020, at 12:50, Green Havens <greenhavens@yahoo.com> wrote: 

Afternoon Judy 

I am surprised at this email as when I took you on as a volunteer, it was made clear that 

photos were for greenhavens use.  The photo used has already been used for 

publicity https://greenhavens.network/conservation/greenhavens-network-meeting-4-

september/ 

You chose to not be on the committee, so I'm not sure how you say you speak here for the 

committee and your views arent representative of our community members. To be honest, i 

really don't understand as you have said yourself for many months that we need more people 

to run the network. 

and to reiterate yet again, I am a volunteer on greenhavens, like yourself, please stop referring 

to my employment status and emailing my employers, its really quite intimidating. 

all the best Judy 

Karen 
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From: "Stephen Gauntlett" <> 
To: "lesley boniface 
Cc: 
Sent: Sat, 30 May 2020 at 8:41 
Subject: Re: Financial 
Thanks Lesley 

 

Finances. I have given you all that I have from the bank etc. 

 

AGM ...Problem is.. there is no point in having a new Constitution if the original one is disregarded....... 

 

That states clearly the notice required for the AGM . “Not less than 21 days”. It was also called before the 

Committee was back to a constitutional minimum. 

 

 I have no objection to an AGM within the constitutional guidelines but it doesn’t have to be held during a 

period when most of us have other priorities and are” run ragged.” 

 

It feels as if this process is a continuation of an “elimination “of previous Greenhavens Committee members!  

 

Four of them and some others, are very bruised by their treatment and I feel compelled to defend their major 

personal commitment to the foundation of Greenhavens. To that, I suppose, must be added my own experience. 

 

 That applies in particular to the email exchanges between Karen with the last of those; Judy ,and by association 

those working with her (which happens to include Rose and other local friends) ,which in my judgement was 

totally uncalled for ...and now means that Seaford may form its local  variation of “Greenhavens”. 

 

I am very conscious that after the unilateral “dismissal” of Hannah as Treasurer; I am the only person with the 

bank mandate ; possibly the only recourse left to me is to dissolve the original Greenhavens and that (as in the 

constitution ), means returning money to the donors .  

 

The informal legal and accountancy advice I have  is that as Chair of LDC and Greenhavens, I should follow 

that course. That advice is clear; Facebook and Greenhavens website information containing the AGM notice 

and date does not constitute formal notice. 

 

Therefore the so called AGM notice, quite apart from giving less than the constitutional 21 days, is invalid. 

 

If after Wednesday 3/6/20 there is a “second Greenhavens”,I will write to Sussex Community Foundation, who 

donated £4000- so far not spent -to inform them that a “new “Greenhavens  with a revised constitution has been 

formed and leave it to them to decide what they wish to do. 

 The bank account also includes £1000 from my discretionary Chair of LDC fund which will be returned for 

redistribution. This will go towards food banks etc for Covid relief. 

 

 That is because I cannot , in conscience , allow LDC funds to be used to subvert a multi agency climate change 

initiative intended to mitigate and support biodiversity resilience for the benefit of Lewes District . 

 

Personally, I think that It will be a disgrace if the “new” Greenhavens turns its back on a really ground breaking 

SDNP led National Lottery bid which started off as 1 in 600, then won through to finals and is now in the final 

few. 

 

Finally, I have never had any desire to continue as Chair of Greenhavens beyond my chairing of LDC (and with 

it my theme) which ( about time!.), is likely to end in July ..after 3 + years.  

 

That does not mean that I have lost my commitment to the original objectives of Greenhavens! 

 

I would simply urge caution. 

 

Best wishes 

 

Stephen 
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Stephen Gauntlett 

0793 2806770 

 

On 29 May 2020, at 16:25, Lesley-Anne Boniface  wrote: 

Good afternoon Stephen  

 

Was just wondering if there are any further financial details available - bank statements etc since the last one 

you sent?  

 

If there's anything else you are able to handover I would be very grateful. 

 

We haven't received any emails saying that Tuesdays AGM is unconstitutional, other than one, if there are any 

groups who still wish to object to the meeting going ahead they need to email asap.   In your previous response 

you mention the "new" Greenhavens.  We are not seeking to set up a new network, merely save the one we 

have. 

 

Look forward to hearing from you. 

 

Best wishes  

 

Lesley 

Sent from Yahoo Mail on Android 
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Lewes District Council 

Standards Panel Hearing – 19 March 2021 

Order of Proceedings 

 

1. Chair to explain the roles of those officiating at the hearing, as follows–  

(i) Standards Panel, consisting of Cllrs Robinson, Davis and Burman.  

The Panel will hear submissions from the investigating officer (Alex 

Oram of ch&i associates), the complainant (Karen Rigby-Faux) and the 

subject member (Cllr Stephen Gauntlett); and, having regard to the 

investigating officer’s written report and all other submissions received–  

 

a) decide whether Cllr Gauntlett failed to comply with Lewes District 

Council’s Code of Conduct for Members; and 

 

b) if there was a failure, decide what sanction (if any) to impose or 

recommend. 

 

(ii) Independent Person (Neal Robinson) – whose views on the allegations 

against Cllr Gauntlett must be sought by the Panel and taken into 

account before they decide on whether he failed to comply with the 

Code.  The Independent Person himself does not vote on the matter; 

the final decision rests solely with the 3-person Panel. 

 

If the Panel decides that a failure did occur, the Panel will consult the 

Independent Person before deciding whether to apply or recommend a 

sanction (and if so, what). 

 

(iii) Monitoring Officer (Oliver Dixon) and Deputy Monitoring Officer (Simon 

Russell) – to provide independent advice to the Panel on matters of law 

and procedure.  They will not express any view on the evidence heard 

or seek to influence the Panel’s decision. 

 

(iv) Committee Officer (Elaine Roberts) – to take minutes 
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2.   Investigating officer (Alex Oram) presents his report and recommendations. 

3. Questions from the Panel to the investigating officer. 

4. Representations from the complainant (Karen Rigby-Faux) to the Panel.  The 

complainant may refer to the investigator’s report and presentation but may 

not introduce new evidence or arguments.  Time limit: 15 mins 

5.  Questions from the Panel to the complainant. 

6.  Representations from the subject member (Cllr Gauntlett) to the Panel.  The 

subject member may refer to the investigator’s report and presentation but 

may not introduce new evidence or arguments.  Time limit: 15 mins 

7.  Questions from the Panel to the subject member. 

8.   Panel retires to consider their decision. 

9.  Once the Panel reaches their decision, the hearing reconvenes and the Chair 

announces the decision as to whether or not, in respect of the allegation, the 

subject member failed to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for 

Members. 

10.  If the Panel finds there was a failure, they shall invite representations from the 

subject member as to any sanction the Panel might impose, i.e. any mitigating 

factors he wishes the Panel to take into account.  Subject member may speak 

for up to 5 minutes. 

11. Panel retires to consider what (if any) sanctions to impose. 

12.  Panel reconvenes and the Chair announces its decision on sanctions. 
 

13. The Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with the Chair, prepare a notice of 

the Panel’s decision and any sanctions as soon as practicable after the 

hearing, and publish it on the Council’s website.  A copy of the notice will be 

sent to the subject member and complainant.  The Panel’s decision will be 

reported to the next convenient meeting of the full Council. 
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Hearings Procedure 

 
The following process will be followed when a decision has been taken that a 
hearing, as to whether a member has breached the code of conduct, is required.  
  
Pre-hearing process 
The Monitoring Officer will, where possible, arrange for the Standards Panel to 
meet to hear the complaint within 3 months of receiving the Investigating Officer’s 
report. They should aim to find a date which the witnesses, the Investigating 
Officer, the complainant and the Subject Member (the member against whom the 
complaint has been made) can attend. They should give all those involved, 
particularly the Subject Member, sufficient notice of the hearing. The Monitoring 
Officer should aim to arrange a hearing which can take place in one day or 
consecutive days without the need to have gaps between sittings or lengthy 
days.  
 
The Standards Committee and the Standards Panel are subject to the normal 
requirements on confidential and exempt information as any other Committee 
under ss100 A to K and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. The 
Monitoring Officer will consider whether these provisions apply in advance of the 
hearing.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will require the Subject Member to give his/her response 
to the Investigating Officer’s report in order to identify what is likely to be agreed 
and what is likely to be in contention at the hearing.  
 
If the Subject Member wishes to rely on evidence at the hearing, they should 
provide it to the Monitoring Officer as soon as possible. The Investigating Officer 
may have taken a witness statement from them or set out their comments in their 
report but if the Subject Member wishes to add to what the Investigating Officer 
has written they should provide a witness statement to the Monitoring Officer as 
soon as possible.  
 
The Panel will not allow new arguments or evidence to be presented at the 
hearing. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will decide what evidence will need to be heard, and what 
written evidence can be read at the hearing. The Monitoring Officer should take 
account of the views of the witnesses and the Subject Member in reaching such 
decisions.  
 
The Monitoring Officer can consult the Chair of the Hearing Panel if he/she feels 
their guidance would assist and ask the Chair to issue directions in relation to the 
pre-hearing process.   
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The Monitoring Officer may wish to offer to cover the expenses of witnesses 
associated with their attendance at the hearing.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will consider whether it is appropriate to hear two 
complaints together, for example if they relate to the same member, or relate to 
the same incident or occasion.  
 
The Subject Member should be provided with the Investigating Officer’s report 
and any evidence which will be heard at the hearing. 
 
The Monitoring Officer should provide the members of the Hearing Panel with all 
the evidence in advance of the hearing so that they can read it to identify any 
potential conflicts of interest.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will provide the Hearing Panel with a report which 
summarises the allegation. This should include a list of agreed facts and disputed 
issues and outline the proposed procedure for the hearing.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will act as a point of contact for the Subject Member, the 
complainant, the Independent Person and any witnesses who will give evidence.  
 
The Hearing 
The hearing will generally take place in public.  
 
An Independent Person will be invited to attend the hearing and may be asked to 
comment if the Panel thinks it is appropriate. This will be an Independent Person 
who has not previously been consulted by the Subject Member.  
 
If the Subject Member does not attend the hearing, the Panel may adjourn the 
hearing or may continue to reach a decision on the basis of the Investigating 
Officer’s report and any evidence they hear, if they decide to hear evidence.  
 
Whilst the hearing is a meeting of the authority, it is not a court of law. It does not 
hear evidence under oath. The rules of natural justice should nevertheless be 
followed and the Hearing Panel will have due regard to the seriousness of the 
proceedings for those involved, the Council and the public.  
 
The Panel will decide disputed issues and whether the Subject Member has 
breached the code on the balance of probabilities.  
 
Representation 
The Subject Member may choose to be represented by any person they wish. 
They will have to bear any cost of being represented. The Panel may refuse to 
allow a representative to remain at the hearing if they are disruptive. The Panel 
will have the discretion to hear opening or closing arguments from the Subject 
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Member and the Investigating Officer if they feel it would assist them in reaching 
a decision.  
 
Evidence 
The Panel will control the procedure and evidence presented at a hearing, 
including the number of witnesses and the way they are questioned. All matters 
relating to the evidence and procedure are within their discretion.  
 
Generally the Subject Member is entitled to present their case as they see fit.  
 
The Panel will usually have regard to submissions from the Subject Member if 
they are considering whether to hear particular evidence.  
 
Witnesses of facts that are disputed would normally be expected to attend to be 
questioned. Character witnesses will normally provide written evidence which 
can be read at the hearing.  
 
Witnesses should be treated with courtesy throughout the pre-hearing stage and 
at the hearing.  
 
Witnesses may be questioned by the Panel, the Monitoring Officer and the 
Subject Member. This discretion should generally be unfettered by the Panel 
unless there is good reason to do so. 
 
The onus is on the Subject Member to ensure the attendance of witnesses who 
they would like to give evidence to assist them. The Panel can limit the number 
of witnesses or the issues which can be covered by them.  
 
Neither the Panel nor the Subject Member will have any power to compel 
witnesses to give evidence.  
 
At the Hearing 
At the hearing, the Investigating Officer will present his/her report, call such 
witnesses as he/she considers necessary and make representations to 
substantiate his/her conclusion that the member has failed to comply with the 
Code of Conduct. The Investigating Officer is likely to ask the complainant to 
attend and give evidence to the Panel. The Investigating Officer may be asked 
about their report or any matters relating to their involvement.  
 
Role of Monitoring Officer 
References to the Monitoring Officer should be read to include any 
representative of the Monitoring Officer. 
 
The Monitoring Officer has a key role in ensuring the smooth running of the pre-
hearing and hearing process. They will remain neutral throughout and will 
provide independent advice to the Panel  
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Role of the complainant 
The role of the complainant will usually be limited to being a witness and they are 
not a party to the proceedings. However, the Panel may wish to consult them at 
any stage in the hearing if they feel their comments would assist them.  
 
Decision  
The Panel must consult the Independent Person in reaching their decision. 
 
The Panel may wish to retire to consider their decision. The Monitoring Officer 
may assist them in constructing the reasons for their decision. The Monitoring 
Officer will not express any view on the evidence heard or the decision to be 
reached. 
 
The Panel will reach a decision as to whether the subject member has breached 
the code of conduct. If they decide that the Subject Member has not breached 
the code of conduct they will take no further action. If they decide that the Subject 
Member has breached the code of conduct they should go on to decide what 
sanction, if any, is appropriate. 
 
Sanctions 
The Panel must consult the Independent Person before imposing any sanction 
and give the Subject Member the opportunity to make representations. 
 
The Panel should consider all the mitigating and aggravating circumstances that 
appear to them to be relevant. For example, they may wish to consider: 
 

 What were the actual and potential consequences of the breach? 

 How serious was the breach? 

 What is the attitude of the Subject Member now? Have they apologised? 

 Has the Subject Member previously been dealt with for a breach of the 
code? 

 
The following are example of mitigating and aggravating factors but these lists 
should not be regarded as exhaustive. 
 
Mitigating Factors 
 

 An honest but mistaken belief that the action was not a breach of the code  

 A previous record of good service 

 Evidence that they were suffering from ill health at the time of the breach 
 
Aggravating Factors 
 

 Dishonesty 

 Continuing to deny the facts or blaming other people 
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 Evidence of a failure to follow advice or warnings 
 
The priority of the Panel should be to ensure that there are no further breaches of 
the code and that public confidence is maintained.  
 
Sanctions 
The sanctions available to the Panel are: 
 
 

 Publish its findings in respect of the member’s conduct, 
 

 Write a formal letter to the councillor found to have breached the code, 
 

 Report its findings to Council  for information, 
 

 Seek formal censure through a motion at Council, 
 

 Recommend to the Member’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 
members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be 
removed from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council, 

 

 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be removed 
from the Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities, 

 

 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training, mediation or other 
appropriate remedy, for the Member. 

 

 Remove or recommend to the Town/Parish Council that the member be 
removed from some/all outside appointments to which he/she has been 
appointed or nominated by the authority or by the Town/Parish Council. 

 
Notice of decision 
 
As soon as is reasonably practicable after the hearing, the Monitoring Officer 
shall prepare a formal decision notice in consultation with the Chair of the 
Hearings Panel, and send a copy to the complainant, the Subject Member, make 
that decision notice available for public inspection and report the decision to the 
next convenient meeting of the Council.  
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